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LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

VISION

Sagicor Life Inc

To be a great Caribbean company

committed to improving the lives

of the people in communities

in which we operate.

MISSION

Life of Jamaica Limited

Life of Jamaica is committed to the

development of our staff, agents and

the wider community that we serve,

providing high quality financial solutions

and outstanding service to our customers,

while earning superior returns for our

shareholders.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Life of Jamaica Limited

Life of Jamaica Limited (LOJ), the foremost life insurance company in Jamaica, is a member of the Sagicor 

Financial Group, a leading Caribbean financial services Group of companies.

LOJ commenced operations in 1970 as the first Jamaican owned life insurance company and was the first 

Jamaican life insurance company to be listed on the Jamaican Stock Exchange (JSE).

In late 2001, the ownership of LOJ changed when 76% of the company and its subsidiaries was purchased by a 

consortium of Barbados Mutual Life Assurance Society (BMLAS) and Life of Barbados Limited (LOB).  This 

shareholding was previously held by the Government of Jamaica's FINSAC Limited as part of a capital 

restructuring agreement effected during the previous year.

In June 2002, the Barbados Mutual Life Assurance Society acquired majority shares of LOB.  By the end of the year,

BMLAS acquired the remaining LOB shares.  BMLAS demutualised in December 2002 and converted to a 

company with share capital.  The company took a new name Sagicor Life Inc. and incorporated a holding company 

known as Sagicor Financial Corporation (Sagicor).

Sagicor's shares were listed for the first time on the Barbados Stock Exchange on 4th February 2003.  The shares 

were also listed on the Trinidad & Tobago stock exchange by the end of 2003. Sagicor has extensive holdings in the 

Caribbean and operates in 19 countries in the Caribbean region, Latin America and the United States.  It is the 

Life of Jamaica Limited - Head Office
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leading indigenous financial services Group in the 

region.

Sagicor's A (excellent) rating from A.M. Best is based 

on an assessment of its financial strength, strategic 

management and operating efficiencies.

In 2003, LOJ completed its acquisition of Island Life 

Insurance Company Limited (Island Life), a 

company that was 79% owned by BMLAS.  The 

operations of Island Life were merged with LOJ in the 

first quarter of 2003 and regulatory approval to 

amalgamate the portfolios was received, effective 10 

November 2003.

Since its inception, LOJ has gained a solid reputation 

as a pacesetter, innovator and leader in the 

Caribbean life insurance industry.

The company has been the market leader among life 

insurance companies in Jamaica for 16 consecutive 

years.

LOJ is also one of the major life and health insurers in 

the Caribbean region.

At year-end 2003 the LOJ Group's assets were $16.4 

billion while total assets under management stood 

at $36.4 billion.

The company markets:

An extensive range of ordinary long term and 

equity linked insurance products;

Group life, group health and personal 

accident plans;

Group pension plans, with a portfolio of over 

J$20 Billion under management, making LOJ the 

industry leader in the management of pension 

funds by life insurance companies in Jamaica.

Some of the company's other services include:

Residential and commercial mortgages;

Annuities;

Real estate development and management;

Investments management; 

Lease financing.

Major subsidiaries of LOJ are:

LOJ Property Management Limited
- Property management;

Global Life Assurance Company Limited 

(Cayman) - Life insurance;

LOJ Pooled Investment Funds Limited 

- Pension funds management;

Employee Benefits Administrator Limited
- E m p l o y e e b e n e f i t s m a r k e t i n g a n d

administration;

Sagicor Re Insurance Limited (Cayman)
- Property and casualty insurance.

The LOJ Group has an administration staff 

complement of 550 persons and employs 

approximately 275 agents strategically located in 10 

branches island-wide. Over 100 of these agents are 

members of the life insurance industry's prestigious 

Million Dollar Round Table an honour awarded to 

approximately 5% of all agents, in recognition of 

outstanding sales production and service to clients.

More information about Sagicor can be seen at: 

http://www.sagicor.com.  Information on LOJ can be 

found at: http://www.life-of-ja.com.
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LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

Overview

The financial year 2003 was another 

outstanding year for all stakeholders 

in Life of Jamaica Limited (LOJ).

The LOJ Group of companies 

reported profits of J$1.2 billion, which 

were the highest ever recorded in our 

34 years of existence. This was an 

increase of 41% or $350 million over 

the 2002 results. It is to be noted that 

with the adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), the 2002 net profits were 

restated from $830M to $858M. All 

lines of business performed well and 

contributed positively.

E x c e p t i o n a l l y  s t r o n g  s a l e s  

performance during the year 

produced J$1.036 billion of new annualized premiums in the Individual Life and 

Employee Benefits business, with excellent retention results of 89% for Individual Life 

and 96% for Employee Benefits. 

Total Assets also grew from J$10.9 billion at the end of 2002 to J$16.4 billion at the end 

of 2003, an increase of 50%. This was due mainly to LOJ's acquisition of Island Life 

Insurance Company Limited (Island Life), but was also influenced by the strong profit 

performance for the year.

The book value of the shareholders' equity moved from $1.4billion at the end of 2002 

to $3.8billion at the end of 2003. The return on equity for the year was 47% compared 

with 92% for the previous year.

Our overall performance far exceeded our targets for 2003. On behalf of the Board of 

Directors, I wish to express our heartiest congratulations to the Management and 

staff of the company for their sterling contributions to the year's achievements.

Economic Environment 

During the year 2003, the Jamaican economy grew by an estimated 2.3%. All major 

sectors showed growth, in particular, the Finance & Insurance services sector 

expanded by 5.6%. However, the Government continued to grapple with high debt 

service costs and the burden it placed on financial resources. The fiscal deficit also 

continued to be high and much worse than budgeted. 

J. Arthur Bethell
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Life of Jamaica Limited
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The year started with the exchange rate of the 

Jamaican dollar to the US dollar at $50.66. The 

exchange rate climbed to the low seventies in the 

second quarter and finished the year at $60.61, a 

depreciation of 19.64% for the full year. There was 

relative stability in the value of the Jamaican dollar in 

the latter part of the year. Meanwhile, interest rates 

started out the year in the high teens, and being 

aimed at protecting the Jamaican dollar, peaked in 

the mid thirties in the second quarter. Later in the 

year, interest rates declined and finished the year in 

the low twenties. 

During 2003 the rate of inflation increased to double 

digits and at year end was 14.1%.

With interest rates trending downwards, the 

exchange rate being expected to remain stable and 

inflation targeted at 9%, there is general optimism 

about the economy for 2004. 

Returns to our Shareholders 

With the emergence of positive retained earnings 

during 2003, the Board of Directors established a 

new dividend policy with a distribution ratio to 

shareholders of up to 40% of profits.

For the first time in several years, LOJ paid a dividend 

to its shareholders. The Board approved an interim 

dividend of $0.10 per share on the common stock of 

the company, which was paid on October 24, 2003 to 

shareholders on record as of close of business on 

October 6, 2003, and a final dividend of $0.06 per 

share, which was paid on January 30, 2004 to 

shareholders on record as of close of business on 

December 30, 2003. 

Merger Activities 

The amalgamation of LOJ and Island Life was 

concluded during the year, and the successful and 

smooth integration of the two companies is a 

testimony to the quality of the men and women of 

those companies as they came together to chart a 

path for the future of the combined entity. The 

amalgamation has resulted in anticipated operating 

synergies and this has contributed to the 2003 

results, and is expected to have a positive impact on 

the future performance of the combined LOJ. 

Another key factor of the outstanding 2003 results 

was the joint venture with First Life Insurance 

Company Limited (First Life), Employee Benefits 

Administrator Limited. The synergies resulting from 

this joint venture had a positive impact on operating 

cost within the Employee Benefits Division as well as 

on the bottom-line. LOJ and First Life are now poised 

to strengthen their ties even further. The two 

companies have announced their intention to enter 

into a strategic relationship in which LOJ will acquire 

the financial services businesses of First Life, 

including its 50% interest in the Employee Benefits 

joint venture, its life insurance operations and its 

interest in Pan Caribbean Merchant Bank. I am 

confident that these initiatives will bring significant 

benefits to the customers, shareholders and 

employees of both companies.

At the end of the year, the process towards the 

acquisition of the individual life insurance business 

of Capital Life Insurance Company Limited (Capital

Life) in the Cayman Islands was completed. Capital

Life is a subsidiary of the Sagicor Group of 

Companies. The transaction was completed through 

our wholly owned subsidiary, Global Life Assurance 

Company Ltd. (Global Life). The effective date of this 

transaction was January 1,2004 when the operations 

of Capital Life and Global Life were merged and on 

February 3,2004, in line with our group policy, Global 

Life was rebranded Sagicor Life of the Cayman

Islands Ltd. 

Commitment to Our Communities

LOJ demonstrated its corporate social responsibility 

to the society through its programme of donations, 

sponsorships and outreach activities. The company 
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has received and responded generously to a number 

of requests from charities, schools, sporting bodies, 

clubs and other organizations. The areas for 

consideration were Health (HIV/AIDS, Drug 

Addiction and Healthy Lifestyle Management), 

Sports, Education, Arts and Culture.

During the year, Life of Jamaica demonstrated its 

continued commitment to its communities in 

several tangible ways. The company supported a 

number of worthy causes including providing 

funding for the University Hospital of the West

Indies' expansion of its intensive care unit and 

operating theatres; contributing to the restoration of 

the Ward Theatre; assisting with the purchase of a 

dialysis machine for the Diabetic Association of 

Jamaica; funding the Sickle Cell Trust, and the 

Addiction Alert Organization. We also continued our 

support for Cluster A of the Golden Age Home for 

senior citizens. 

Management Changes 

Special thanks and sincere appreciation must go to 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Maxine 

MacLure, whose professionalism and guidance over 

the last two years have contributed to our 

exceptional results. 

Congratulations Maxine for a job very well done. 

As from March 1, 2004, Ms. MacLure will be taking 

up a new key position in the Sagicor Group  that of 

President & Chief Executive Officer of one of the 

Group's US Operations. Sagicor currently operates a 

Management Services Company based in the United 

States, however, the Group intends to expand its 

operations internationally and Ms. MacLure is 

expected to play a key role in this international 

business expansion strategy. We wish Maxine best of 

luck in her new assignment. 

Mr. Richard Byles, has been appointed to the 

position of President and CEO of Life of Jamaica 

effective March 1st 2004. Prior to joining LOJ, Mr.

Byles was the President and CEO of Pan Jamaican 

Investment Trust Ltd. (Pan Jam), a post he held since 

1991. He was also the Chairman and CEO of Pan 

Jam's largest subsidiary, First Life Insurance 

Company Ltd. During his tenure as CEO of the Pan 

Jam Group, Mr. Byles was responsible for a number 

of mergers, acquisitions and other strategic 

business initiatives, which had a profound and 

positive impact on the performance of the Pan Jam 

Group. We welcome Richard to Life of Jamaica, and 

to the Sagicor Group of companies. 

Conclusion

Finally, I would like to place on record my sincere 

thanks to the management and staff of LOJ for their 

commitment and concerted efforts during the year.

To our policyholders and shareholders, without your 

ongoing support we could not have had such a 

successful year. With your continuing confidence in 

the company, we look forward to Life of Jamaica 

growing from strength to strength as we participate 

in the rebuilding of our industry and contribute to the 

development of the communities in which we 

operate.

J. Arthur Bethell
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Life of Jamaica Limited
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LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

Overview

The year 2003 was another highly 

successful one for Life of Jamaica 

Limited (LOJ). All performance 

objectives for the year were met, and 

in the majority of cases the company 

surpassed its targets . Consequently

LOJ was able to solidify its position as 

the dominant life insurance company 

in Jamaica, in all the markets in which 

it competes. 

Early in the year, the operations of 

Life of Jamaica Limited and Island 

Life Insurance Company Limited 

(Island Life) were merged. By the end 

of March, LOJ had acquired all of the 

issued shares of Island Life, leading 

to a substantial growth in our balance 

sheet.

During the year, a small captive general insurance company (Sagicor Re Insurance 

Limited) was established in the Cayman Islands, to provide property and some 

accident class insurance for the LOJ Group. This strategy enabled the Group to lower 

its general insurance premiums costs by channelling all general insurance business 

through a single vehicle and directly sourcing better rates. The captive also earns 

reinsurance commissions which would other-wise flow to brokers. 

Two of LOJ's greatest challenges during the year came from events occurring outside 

the company. One such event was the slide of the Jamaica Dollar against its US 

counterpart, and the other was the imposition of General Consumption Tax (GCT) on 

Health Insurance Premiums. 

The Jamaican dollar moved from J$50.66 per US$1:00 at January 1 2003 to J$60.61 per 

US$1 by December 31 2003, a decline of 19.64%. While this provided LOJ with gains 

from the portion of our investment portfolio denominated in US dollars, new 

investment strategies had to be devised to minimise the impact of the devalued 

Jamaican dollar on our policyholders and investors. 

The second event was the decision by the Government of Jamaica to impose GCT on 

all life and health insurance premiums. While the industry recognized its role in the 

development of the economy and the country, the wholesale imposition of GCT on 

premiums was a cause for concern. 

We were heartened by Government's decision to modify its earlier decision and to 

Maxine MacLure
President and CEO

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Life of Jamaica Limited
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restrict the imposition of GCT to Health Insurance 

Premiums only. However, the industry is still 

pursuing this matter with Government, since 

indications are clear that GCT on health premiums 

may not be in the best interest of consumers. Our 

industry is committed to working with Government 

to find solutions to our economic problems without 

severely impacting the public's access to health and 

long-term insurance 

The Results

At the end of the financial year, total assets for the 

LOJ Group stood at $16.4 billion compared to $10.9 

billion at the end of 2002. This was due mainly to 

LOJ's acquisition of Island Life. 

In 2003 total assets under management (including 

the LOJ Pooled Investment Funds and the 

Diversified Investment Funds) grew to $36.4 billion 

from $24.0 billion at the end of 2002. Pension funds 

under management grew to $20.0 billion from $14.4 

billion at the end of 2002. 

Net profits for the LOJ Group were $1.2 billion up 

41% from $858 million reported for the year ended 

2002. Total revenue was $5.6 billion up from $4.0 

billion for 2002.

The LOJ Group had strong total sales of $1.036 

billion in annualised premiums for the year under 

review, and firmly established itself as leader in the 

local life insurance market-place. The $1.036 billion 

in new sales represents a 50.6% increase on total 

sales of $688 million for 2002. 

Financial Strength and Solvency 

The new Insurance Regulations for Jamaica, which 

came into effect on December 31, 2001, required all 

life insurance companies to hold a Minimum 

Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirement 

(MCCSR) of 100% for 2003. At the end of December 

2003 LOJ's MCCSR was 215.9%, significantly in 

excess of this requirement. This prudential standard 

measures the company's financial strength and 

solvency.

Shareholders' equity grew to $3.8 billion from $1.4 

billion at the end of 2002 due to an increase in 

retained earnings, and the new share issue which 

was used to finance the acquisition of Island Life. 

This was a 182% growth over the position at the end 

of December 2002. Our market capitalization as of 

December 31, 2003, was $9.8 billion based on a price 

of $3.90 per share on that date, and 2,520,890,074 

basic shares outstanding. 

Life Insurance 

The LOJ Group of companies produced a record 

breaking $637 million in new annualised premium 

income (API) from 24,507 new policies with sums 

assured of $34.8 billion. Gross premium income was 

$2.1 billion, up 48% over the previous year.

LOJ itself produced $621 million from 24,187 new 

policies with sums assured of $32.3 billion. Agents 

productivity for the year was 84% and conservation 

was 89%. This was a marked improvement over the 

previous year when productivity was 56% and 

conservation was 80%. The Corporate Circle Branch 

led by Senior Branch Manager Pete Forrest emerged 

as the company's leading branch with $83.2 million 

of new API and an 89% conservation ratio. Jasnieth 

Harvey of that branch was the company's leading 

Unit Manager. Waldemar Bramwell with $9.077 

million of new API was the leading agent in new 

business, while Albert Lyon was second with $9.033 

million. Overall, Albert Lyon emerged as Chairman 

of the Company's prestigious Production Club, Lloyd 

Robinson, Walter Grant, Darla Brown and Beulah 

Laird, were the top 6 agents, each producing over $5 

million in API. Beulah Laird also emerged as 

President of the Company's Century Club. The 

leading Rookie was Suzanne James. 

Five of our agents, Waldemar Bramwell, Albert Lyon,
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Lloyd Robinson, Walter Grant and Darla Brown 

qualified for Court of the prestigious Million Dollar 

Round Table, while one hundred and seven (107) 

more of our agents qualified for membership. This 

was a 43% increase on the seventy nine (79) who 

qualified at the end of 2002 (43 from Life of Jamaica 

and 36 from Island Life). Furthermore, over 70 of LOJ 

agents qualified to attend the Sagicor Group's 

biennial sales convention to be held in London 

during the first week of May 2004. 

Congratulations are extended to all of our individual 

life sales staff for their impressive performances. 

Employee Benefits

LOJ is the leading provider of group insurance and 

group pensions products in Jamaica. Our joint 

venture with First Life Insurance Company Limited, 

named Employee Benefits Administrator Limited, 

was in effect for all of 2003. This operation provided 

our clients with combined administrative resources 

for group health, group life, pension administration 

and personal accident business. 

The Employee Benefits Division of LOJ produced 

$388 million of new annualised premiums, with a 

96% conservation, exceeding their target of $360 

million by 8%. Gross Premiums collected were $1.6 

billion compared to $1.5 billion for 2002. 

Vernon O'Sullivan was leader in Employee Benefits 

Sales, and Heather Robinson continues to maintain 

the largest portfolio. 

Pension Funds

LOJ continued to manage the largest amount of 

pension funds in the life insurance industry. The 

Group's portfolio stood at $20.0 billion at the end of 

2003.

The majority of the pension funds continue to be 

held in trust through a subsidiary company, LOJ 

Pooled Investment Funds Limited (LOJ PIF). 

The yields on the LOJ PIF funds were excellent in 

2003. The Equity fund returned a yield of 35.79%, the 

Mortgage and Real Estate Fund yielded 42.51%, the 

Money Market Fund 20.78%, Fixed Income Fund

12.58%, Foreign Currency Fund 30.41%, for an 

overall yield on the weighted average of the funds of 

28.25%. These funds performed significantly better 

than the inflation rate of 14%, generating healthy real 

returns for the plans. 

In addition, through our acquisition of Island Life, 

LOJ directs the investment strategies of the 

Diversified Investment Fund. This fund is invested in 

equities (12%), US$ Government of Jamaica bonds 

(23%), J$ Government of Jamaica bonds (48%), 

repurchase agreements (16%) and real estate (1%). 

The yield on this fund in 2003 was 22.19% 

Pension fees arising from the investment 

management and administration of pension plans 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Life of Jamaica Limited

Pete Forrest Jasnieth Harvey Waldemar Bramwell Albert Lyon
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grew from $112.2 million in 2002 to $150.4 million in 

2003, an increase of 34%. 

Investment Performance 

LOJ has a significant portfolio of invested assets. At 

the end of the year, invested assets of the Group were 

at $9.3 billion, an increase of 61% over 2002. The 

majority of these assets (67%) are invested in 

Government of Jamaica instruments, denominated 

in both US dollars and local currency. The remainder 

of the assets are invested in mortgages, equities, real 

estate, policy loans, mutual funds units and 

commercial paper.

In 2003, net investment income doubled, moving 

from $593 million in 2002 to $1.2 billion. The return 

on invested assets was 18%. 

In addition, LOJ manages segregated funds on 

behalf of our policyholders. Yields from all of these 

funds out-performed the inflation rate. The yield 

from the Balanced Fund was 26.8%, the LOJ Equity 

Fund was 15.7% and the LOJ Fixed Income Fund

realised a yield of 17.3%. 

Our Mortgage Investor Plan has assisted many 

Jamaicans in owning and/or improving their homes. 

During the year, $915 million in mortgages were 

approved, although not all were disbursed as in 

some cases, final documentation had not been 

completed by year end. 

Human Resources

During the year, a number of senior executive 

changes occurred. Mr. Ravi Rambarran, the Chief 

Financial Officer of the Company resigned his 

position to pursue other business opportunities. Mr.

Kurtis Bray finalised his work with us on the 

integration of Island Life and LOJ, in addition to the 

re-structuring of the branch operations. We express 

our appreciation to Ravi and to Kurt for their 

contributions to Life of Jamaica over the past several 

years.

Mr. Hugh Mazely, who worked with LOJ on the Island 

Life merger activities, joined LOJ as the Executive 

Vice President, Operations. Mr. Ivan Carter,

previously the Vice President, Finance and Assistant 

Treasurer at Sagicor Life Inc. in Barbados joined LOJ 

as the Senior Vice President, Finance. Mrs. Catherine

Parke-Thwaites was recruited to the position of 

Senior Vice President, Investments. These new 

members of the senior executive team bring 

significant skills and expertise to their new positions 

and we take this opportunity to welcome Hugh, Ivan 

and Catherine formally to the LOJ family and look 

forward to their contributions. 

As at December 31, 2003, the Life of Jamaica Group 

employed 550 administrative staff (including Heart 

trainees and temporary staff ), 275 sales 

representatives, and a number of independent 

agents and brokers. 

Lloyd Robinson Walter Grant Darla Brown Beulah Laird
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In April 2003, the 2003/2004 Union Negotiations 

were successfully completed. Compensation

harmonisation for First Life/EBA/LOJ staff was 

successfully completed in the summer, and a 

Collective Labour Agreement with the First Life 

Employees was executed in August. 

The use of Psychometric Assessment as part of the 

recruitment process for all Life of Jamaica 

Administrative and Field employees was 

standardized and fully implemented. 

Under active consideration is a Performance 

Management system, which includes the use of 360 

degree Assessment for managerial staff and a 

computerised system for non-managerial staff. 

The group also continues to invest in employee 

education and training. LOJ re-established its 

training department during the year, and 25% of our 

staff went through the company's orientation 

program. In addition, 161 of our staff successfully 

completed key industry training. One employee, 

Cheryl Anthony, attained the Fellow, Life 

Management Institute designation. 

Two administrative staff, Jacqueline Donaldson and 

Bernita Locke, completed the Executive Masters in 

Business Administration program and one Branch 

Manager, Marston Thomas, completed the Master 

of Science degree. 

Maureen Davis-Walker of the Finance Division also 

successfully completed the Association of Certified

Chartered Accountants examinations. 

Congratulations to all of you on your achievements. 

From July 7-12, 2003, LOJ celebrated Customer 

Appreciation week. Activities were organized at all of 

our Business Centres throughout the Island, and 

culminated with a Grand Customer Appreciation 

Day at our Head Office. 

The Company's Staff Appreciation and Achievement 

Week was held in December. Among the events was 

the Mr and Miss Sagicor contest. Thirteen women 

and seven men competed for the $50,000 in prize 

money. The competition required participants to 

show their knowledge of LOJ products and history,

and their understanding of the Sagicor group as a 

whole. In addition, the competitors participated in a 

talent show at the Little Theatre. The event was 

adjudicated by knowledgeable external judges. The 

winners were Erica Prendergast and Barry Davis. 

Corporate Citizenship

During the past year LOJ made substantial 

contributions to numerous vitally important areas of 

Jamaican society. Assistance was extended in a 

variety of needy areas including health, education, 

charitable organisations, the arts and culture. The 

more significant individual contributions were: 

The University Hospital received $5 million to 

assist with expansion of the Operating Theatre 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Life of Jamaica Limited

Suzanne James Vernon O’Sullivan Heather Robinson
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and Intensive Care Units, a project which costs in 

the region of $130 million. 

The Rotary Club of Kingston received $1 million 

to assist with its AIDS research project. 

The Lions Club of Mona received $1 million to 

assist with a Resource Centre for physically 

challenged students at the UWI. 

The Ward Theatre Foundation received $1 million 

being the first instalment of a $3 million 

commitment to help to restore the Ward Theatre, 

one of Jamaica's best known cultural landmarks. 

50 copies of the Gleaner's Children's Own 

Newspaper were donated to 51 schools 

throughout Jamaica, commencing November 

2003 and scheduled for completion in July 2004, 

to assist children in their reading programme. 

The Private Sector Organization of Jamaica also 

received $1 million in support of its programs. 

Conclusion

In 2003, the amalgamation of the former Island Life 

and Life of Jamaica created many remarkable 

opportunities for our Administrative staff and Field 

Force. The synergies from the combination also had 

a positive impact on all aspects of our operations. It 

is indeed heartening to note the smooth transition of 

the merger of these two companies and the resultant 

re-building of the LOJ team spirit. 

I would like to compliment everyone who worked on 

this project. What could have been a time of great 

internal conflict and stress was instead a time of 

much constructive thinking and carefully considered 

action, totally vindicating our decision to make this a 

staff-driven exercise.

My heartfelt thanks go out to our combined 

administrative staff and field force who continue to 

perform at levels that enable LOJ to be the leading life 

insurance company in Jamaica. 

2004 will see the re-branding of LOJ to enable the 

company to benefit from the synergies of the Sagicor 

Group, and all indications are that this process will 

continue to enhance shareholders' value. 

The coming year will have its share of challenges, but 

I am confident that the resilience demonstrated by 

our employees over the years will help the company 

to surmount any difficulties, and that LOJ will 

continue to grow from strength to strength . 

On a personal note, this will be my final report as 

President and CEO of Life of Jamaica, From March 1, 

2004, I am moving to a new executive position within 

the Sagicor group. I would like to express my sincere 

appreciation for all the support I have received from 

the management and staff of the Life of Jamaica 

organisation and the Board of Directors during my 

tenure. It has truly been a rewarding experience for 

me to serve this great company, and I leave feeling 

confident that LOJ will continue to build on the 

strong performance we have experienced in the past 

two years.

Maxine MacLure
President and CEO

17

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 12 to 18 - MDA

Monday, May 10, 2004 10:28:49 PM



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Life of Jamaica Limited

0 200 400 600 800

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

0 100 200 300 400

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

INSURANCE AMOUNTS IN FORCE
( JA$ billions)

INDIVIDUAL LIFE - NEW SALES
Annualised Premiums

(JA$ millions)

%
67
8
7
6
4
3
3
1
1

<1
<1

100

Govt. Of Jamaica securities
Equities
Mortgage loans
Policy loans
Investment properties
Promissory notes
Foreign Government bonds
Term deposits
Mutual fund shares
Corporate bonds
Unit trust

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

Invested Assets Investment Income

INVESTED ASSETS & INVESTMENT INCOME
( JA$ thousands)

INVESTED ASSETS MIX
(%)

0 10 20 30 40

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

-3,000,000

-2,000,000

-1,000,000

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

-3,500,000
-3,000,000
-2,500,000
-2,000,000
-1,500,000
-1,000,000
-500,000
0
500,000
1,000,000
1,500,000

Shareholders' Equity Net Profit

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
( JA$ thousands)

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
( JA$ thousands)

18

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 12 to 18 - MDA

Monday, May 10, 2004 10:28:49 PM



0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 19 - Divider

Monday, May 10, 2004 10:56:32 PM



YEAR IN REVIEW

Life of Jamaica Limited

20

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 20 to 21 - Y in Review

Tuesday, May 11, 2004 8:09:12 PM



21

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 20 to 21 - Y in Review

Tuesday, May 11, 2004 8:09:28 PM



LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

J. Arthur Bethell
Chairman

3
Marjorie Chevannes-Campbell

1, 3

Maxine MacLure
2

Dodridge D. Miller
1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
as at 31 May 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Philip N. Osborne
1, 2

The Hon. R. D. Williams
OJ, CD, JP

2, 3
Donna M. Stephenson

Corporate Secretary

Jeffrey C. Cobham
1, 3

M. Patricia Downes-Grant
1, 2

Michael Fraser

1. Audit Committee     2. Finance and Investment Committee    3. Conduct Review Committee
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LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Report and the Audited Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31 December 2003.  The figures reflect the 

consolidated results of Life of Jamaica Limited and its subsidiaries.

Operating results

The Group recorded net profits of $1.2 billion, 41% higher than the level of profits 

generated in the previous year of $858 million. With the adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 2002 net profits were restated from $830 

million to $858 million.

The strong earnings performance was due to business growth from the acquisition of 

Island Life, the generation of outstanding new business, high returns on invested 

assets (including foreign exchange gains), improved operating efficiencies in the 

Employee Benefits areas and the realization of operating synergies from the merged 

LOJ and Island Life operations. We also took to revenue gains of $26.4 million 

previously deferred on disposal of our interest in Global Bahamas Holdings Limited. 

At the same time, restructuring costs of $21.9 million was incurred during the year.

The ordinary shares in issue increased from 1,656,248,000 to 2,520,897,000 by year-

end 2003.

The basic earnings per share was $0.53 compared to $0.52 for 2002. The diluted 

earnings per share was $0.52 as against $0.47 for 2002.

Financial position

At the year-end 2003, the assets of the LOJ Group stood at  $16.4 billion. This reflected 

a growth of $5.5 billion or 51% over the 2002 level.

Total assets under management stood at $36.4 billion, up from $25.3 billion at the end 

of 2002.

The book value of Stockholders' equity grew to $3.8 billion by the year-end. An 

increase of 182% over the 2002 level.

The LOJ share price was $3.90 at 31 December 2003 while the price at 31 December 

2002 was $2.70. 

Acquisition and new member company

Effective 31 March 2003, LOJ acquired all of the issued shares of Island Life Insurance 

Company Limited. This acquisition was done by way of a share exchange of 4.25 LOJ 

shares for every Island Life share.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Effective 1 July 2003, LOJ established a captive 

General Insurance company, Sagicor  Re Insurance 

Limited which was incorporated in the Cayman

Islands.

Dividends

During the year, the Board of Directors established a 

dividend policy which provides for the pay-out of up 

to 40% of normal earnings. A total of $0.16 per share 

was declared during the year. $0.10 was paid at the 

end of October  2003 and a further $0.06 per share 

was paid at the end of January 2004. 

Directors

The Directors retiring at the Annual General Meeting 

by rotation, Mrs. Patricia Downes-Grant, Messrs. J. 

Arthur Bethell and Dodridge Miller and being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Richard Byles, having been appointed by the 

Directors to the Board since the last Annual General 

Meeting, retire and being eligible offers himself for 

re-election.

Auditors

The retiring Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers,

having expressed their willingness to continue in 

office will do so in accordance with the provisions of 

Section 153 of the Companies Act.  A resolution 

authorizing the Directors to fix the remuneration of 

the Auditors will be presented at the Annual General 

Meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors.

J. Arthur Bethell
Chairman

2 March 2004
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Life of Jamaica Limited

2003 2002

$'000 $'000 % Increase

Operating Results

Total revenue 5,603,495 4,038,889 39%

Total policyholders benefits 1,913,184 1,446,655 32%

Net profit 1,208,683 858,391 41%

Earnings per Ordinary stock unit

Basic 0.53 0.52 2%

Fully Diluted 0.52 0.47 11%

Financial Position

Total assets (including Segregated funds assets) 16,363,353 10,866,757 51%

Total pension funds under management 20,026,245 14,408,143 39%

Total assets under management 36,389,598 25,274,900 44%

Shareholders' equity 3,840,148 1,359,589 182%

Business in Force and New Sales

New Annualized Premiums

Individual 637,602 357,437 78%

Group Life and Health 135,786 147,697 (8)%

Annuities (single premiums) 212,865 187,606 13%

Group pensions 49,896 5,501 807%

Total Premiums 1,036,149 698,241 48%

Insurance Amounts in Force

Individual 166,356,540 125,508,843 33%

Group 86,481,563 55,179,335 57%

Total amounts in force 252,838,103 180,688,178 40%
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JANET SHARP, FSA, MAAA

APPOINTED ACTUARY FOR LIFE OF JAMAICA

MARCH 24, 2004

APPOINTED ACTUARY’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
AND POLICYHOLDERS

28

I have valued the policy actuarial liabilities of Life of Jamaica Limited for 
the consolidated balance sheet, at December 31, 2003, and the change in 
the consolidated statement of operations, for the year then ended, in 
accordance with accepted actuarial practice, including selection of 
appropriate assumptions and methods.

The valuation of the Life of Jamaica business was conducted using the Policy 
Premium Method assuming best-estimate assumptions together with 
margins for adverse deviations in accordance with the Actuarial Regulations, 
2001.  I have also performed the valuation of Global Life (Cayman), a fully-
owned subsidiary of Life of Jamaica.

In my opinion, the amount of policy actuarial liabilities makes appropriate 
provision for all policyholder obligations and the financial statements fairly 
represent the results of the valuation.

A member of the Sagicor Group

Directors
J. Arthur Bethell
Chairman
Maxine MacLure
President & CEO
Marjorie Chevannes-Campbell
Jeffrey Cobham
M. Patricia Downes-Grant
Michael A. Fraser
Dodridge D. Miller
Philip Osborne
The Hon. R. Danny Williams, O.J., C.D.
Donna M. Stephenson
Corporate Secretary

Life of Jamaica Limited
28-48 Barbados Avenue,
Kingston 5,
P.O. Box 439,
Kingston Jamaica

Tel:  (876) 929-8920-9
Fax: (876) 929-4730
www.life-of.ja.com
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
Scotiabank Centre
Duke Street
Box 372
Kingston, Jamaica
Telephone    (876) 922-6230
Facsimile     (876) 922-7581

2 March  2004

To the Members of 
Life of Jamaica Limited
Kingston

Auditors' Report

We have audited the financial statements set out on pages 30 to 118, and have received all the information and 
explanations which we considered necessary. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept and the financial statements, which are in agreement 
therewith, give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 
31 December 2003 and of the results of operations, changes in stockholders' equity of the Group and the Company
and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, so far as concerns the members of the company and have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the provisions of 
the Jamaican Companies Act applicable to insurance companies.

Chartered Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica

E.L. McDonald  R.L. Downer  J.L.M. Bell  M.G. Rochester  P.W. Pearson  E.A. Crawford  D.V. Brown
J.W. Lee  C.D.W. Maxwell  P.E. Williams  G.L. Lewars  L.A. McKnight  L.E. Augier  A.K. Jain

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

ASSETS

Investments

Securities

Available-for-sale 5 3,872,476 2,652,276

Originated loans 5 4,484,827 2,724,097

Securities purchased under resale agreements 6 515,888 81,359

Investment properties 7 360,234 257,458

Short term deposits 8 35,283 28,779

Associated companies 10 4,099 4,105

9,272,807 5,748,074

Cash and Bank 8 96,536 287,116

Properties, Plant and Equipment 11 457,792 129,173

Goodwill 12 788,890 0

Deferred Income Taxes 13 28,701 32,247

Taxation Recoverable 153,546 141,360

Other Assets 14 1,049,779 649,156

Due from Parent Company 15 70,597 0

Due from Ultimate Parent Company 15 64,575 0

Segregated Funds' Assets 16 4,380,130 3,879,631

16,363,353 10,866,757

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capital 18 252,089 1,222,308

Share premium 18 2,685,402 128,985

Capital reserve 19 2,675 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves 20 (86,144) (67,251)

Currency translation reserve 21 294,030 186,116

Special investment reserve 22 64,496 16,724

Retained earnings/(Accumulated deficit) 627,600 (129,968)

3,840,148 1,359,589

Policyholders’ Funds

Provision for policyholders’ liabilities 24 3,425,916 2,576,226

Amounts on deposit 1,286,995 901,641

Pension funds 25 1,441,379 546,036

6,154,290 4,023,903

Retirement Benefits Obligations 26 305,140 324,908

Taxation Payable 68,427 123,189

Other Liabilities 27 1,587,795 1,155,537

Due to Ultimate Parent Company 29 27,423 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities 16 4,380,130 3,879,631

16,363,353 10,866,757

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Cont’d)
31 December 2003

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on March 2, 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

J. Arthur Bethell
Director

Maxine MacLure
Director

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

Revenue

Net premium income 30 3,830,588 2,898,772

Net investment income 31 1,158,188 593,221

Net fee and commission income 32 389,911 315,885

Net gain on co-insurance agreement 33 0 146,481

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 34 26,411 0

Co-insurance distribution 35 66,210 0

Other operating income 132,187 84,530

5,603,495 4,038,889

Benefits and Expenses

Policyholders’ benefits 1,913,184 1,446,655

Administrative expenses 780,970 313,098

Commission and sales expenses 726,699 485,383

Co-insurance distribution 35 0 28,582

Changes in policyholders’ liabilities 24(b) 166,807 193,975

Salaries, pension contributions and other staff benefits 36 697,493 562,467

Restructuring costs 37 21,874 107,168

4,307,027 3,137,328

Profit before Taxation 39 1,296,468 901,561

Taxation 40 (87,785) (43,170)

NET PROFIT 1,208,683 858,391

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT

Basic 41 $0.53 $0.52

Fully diluted $0.52 $0.47

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended 31 December 2003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Life of Jamaica Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net profit from operations 1,208,683 858,391

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 77,161 39,307

Deferred taxation 3,546 (1,369)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments 19,654 (17,206)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (111) (5,715)

Gain on revaluation of investment properties (70,631) (18,584)

Fair value losses on available-for sale securities (39,727) (11,841)

Amortisation of goodwill 12 41,520 0

Changes in retirement benefits obligations (19,768) 20,349

Changes in policyholders' liabilities 166,807 193,175

Increase in policyholders' funds 1,963,580 242,634

Interest received 838,758 521,527

Interest paid (44,700) (158,648)

Income tax paid (147,547) (73,586)

Income tax expense 87,785 43,170

Interest income (987,795) (565,892)

Interest expense 210,223 139,296

Changes in other assets and liabilities excluding cash:

Due from ultimate parent company (37,152) 0

Due from parent company (70,597) 0

Other assets, net (358,700) 7,715

Other liabilities, net 566,547 473,810

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,407,536 1,686,533

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Acquisition of insurance company, net of cash acquired 1,523 0

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,258 88,261

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (203,863) (26,866)

Proceeds on sale of investment securities 764,881 2,422,774

Purchase of securities purchase under resale agreement (434,529) (81,359)

Purchase of investment securities (3,388,656) (3,896,379)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,255,386) (1,493,569)

Cash Flows From Operating and Investing Activities 152,150 192,964

Life of Jamaica Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)
Year ended 31 December 2003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

Cash Flows From Operating and Investing Activities 152,150 192,964

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Dividends (403,343) 0

Associated companies 6 (12)

Issue of ordinary shares 46,219 0

Net cash used in financing activities (357,118) (12)

Currency translation adjustments 57,700 36,447

(Decrease)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents (147,268) 229,399

Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 324,421 95,022

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 8 177,153 324,421

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

ASSETS

Investments

Securities 5

Available-for-sale 2,332,581 1,644,760

Originated loans 4,184,580 2,349,344

Securities purchased under resale agreements 6 515,888 81,359

Investment properties 7 188,956 111,611

Short term deposits 8 1,523 0

Subsidiaries 9 1,184,377 623,489

Associated companies 10 4,099 4,105

8,412,004 4,814,668

Cash and Bank 8 44,339 247,190

Properties, Plant and Equipment 11 451,534 121,433

Goodwill 12 788,890 0

Deferred Income Taxes 13 26,275 28,058

Taxation Recoverable 151,255 141,360

Other Assets 14 936,193 517,128

Due from Parent Company 15 37,914 0

Due from Ultimate Parent Company 15 64,575 0

Segregated Funds' Assets 16 4,249,335 3,786,103

15,162,314 9,655,940

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capital 18 252,089 1,222,308

Share premium 18 2,685,402 128,985

Capital reserve 19 2,675 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves 20 (86,144) (67,251)

Currency translation reserve 21 294,030 186,116

Special investment reserve 22 68,860 16,724

Retained earnings/(Accumulated deficit) 623,236 (129,968)

3,840,148 1,359,589

Policyholders’ Funds

Provision for policyholders’ liabilities 24 2,759,792 1,902,604

Amounts on deposit 1,120,399 759,993

Pension funds 25 1,348,760 481,241

5,228,951 3,143,838

Retirement Benefits Obligations 26 300,489 318,596

Taxation Payable 68,427 115,580

Other Liabilities 27 1,435,062 932,234

Due to Ultimate Parent Company 29 39,902 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities 16 4,249,335 3,786,103

15,162,314 9,655,940

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (Cont’d)
31 December 2003

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on March 2, 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

J. Arthur Bethell
Director

Maxine MacLure
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Restated

Note 2003 2002

$'000 $'000

Revenue

Net premium income 30 3,068,691 2,730,204

Net investment income 31 680,778 494,965

Net fee and commission income 32 397,183 315,885

Net gain on co-insurance agreement 33 0 146,481

Co-insurance distribution 35 66,210 0

Other operating income 100,428 43,898

4,313,290 3,731,433

Benefits and Expenses

Policyholders’ benefits 1,506,137 1,312,288

Administrative expenses 582,667 342,639

Commission and sales expenses 600,969 459,888

Co-insurance distribution 35 0 28,582

Changes in policyholders’ liabilities 24(b) (3,268) 61,739

Salaries, pension contributions and other staff benefits 36 661,929 547,420

Restructuring costs 37 21,874 107,168

3,370,308 2,859,724

Operating Profit 942,982 871,709

Results of subsidiaries 38 319,470 31,529

Profit before Taxation 39 1,262,452 903,238

Taxation 40 (53,769) (44,847)

NET PROFIT 1,208,683 858,391

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

COMPANY STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended 31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

1. Identification and Activities

(a) Life of Jamaica Limited is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. It is a 62.5% (2002 – 76%) subsidiary of
LOJ Holdings Limited which is also incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The ultimate parent company
is Sagicor Life Inc. (Sagicor), which is incorporated and domiciled in Barbados. Sagicor has an overall
interest of 78.9% (2002 – 76%) in Life of Jamaica Limited.

The main activities of the Company include the provision of life and health insurance, pension
administration, investment services, pension and retirement products and savings and investment
products. The registered office of the company is located at 28 - 48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5,
Jamaica.

The Company is registered to conduct business under the Insurance Act, 2001.

The Company is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

(b) The Company’s subsidiaries, which together with the Company are referred to as “the Group”, are as
follows:

Subsidiaries Principal Activities Incorporated In Holding

Financial

Year End

Global Life Assurance Company Limited Life insurance Grand Cayman 100% 31 December

LOJ Property Management Limited Property management Jamaica 100% 31 December

LOJ Pooled Investment Funds Limited Pension fund
management (Note 1(c))

Jamaica 100% 30 September

Sagicor Re Insurance Limited Property and casualty
insurance

(Note 1(g))

Grand Cayman 100% 31 December

(c) LOJ Pooled Investment Funds Limited holds the assets of the Pooled Pension Investment Funds in trust,
on behalf of pension funds. At 31 December 2003, the assets totalled approximately $15,720,852,000
(2002 - $12,853,543,000).

(d) In July 2002, the Company and First Life Insurance Company Limited entered into a co-insurance
agreement to coordinate the administration of their respective Employee Benefits businesses. The profits
or losses accruing from this venture are apportioned equally between the two entities. In order to achieve
the desired value parity in the arrangement, First Life Insurance Company Limited issued a promissory
note in the value of $160,000,000 at a rate of 20% per annum.

(e) On 1 October 2002, the Company and First Life Insurance Company Limited entered into an agreement
for the administration of the individual life portfolio of First life Insurance Company Limited.

40

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 40 to 118 - Notes to Fin

Wednesday, May 12, 2004 8:08:32 PM



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

1. Identification and Activities (Continued)

(f) Effective 31 March 2003, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Island Life Insurance
Company Limited (Island Life). The acquisition was effected by way of an exchange of four and a 
quarter (4.25) ordinary stock units in Life of Jamaica Limited (LOJ) for each ordinary stock unit in
Island Life. The new stock units in LOJ were ranked pari passu for all purposes with the existing
ordinary shares of the Company (Note 47).

Effective 10 November 2003, LOJ and Island Life obtained approval from the Regulators, the Financial
Services Commission (FSC), to amalgamate their operations in accordance with Section 37 (9) of the
Insurance Regulations, 2001. Therefore, the Company’s balance sheet reflects that of the combined
entities (Note 48).

(g) On 1 July 2003, the Company established a subsidiary, Sagicor Re Insurance Limited in Grand
Cayman. The subsidiary’s principal activity is the provision of property and casualty insurance services
for the companies within the Life of Jamaica Group.

(h) These financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation
Jamaica adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as its national accounting
standards for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2002.  The financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2003 have therefore been prepared in accordance with IFRS and comparative
information has been restated to conform with the provisions of IFRS. The Group has opted for early
adoption of IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS and has applied the provisions of that standard in the
preparation of these financial statements. The effects of adopting IFRS on the equity and net profit as
previously reported are detailed in Note 49.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by
the revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities, investment property and certain fixed
assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Where IFRS does not contain any guidelines governing the accounting treatment of transactions
specific to insurance products, the Group typically refers to the accounting principles outlined in the
Insurance Regulations, 2001.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of
the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies, are
consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is
used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. Intercompany
transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated.

(ii) Associates
Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting. Under this
method the Company’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised
in the statement of operations and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the cost
of the investment. Associates are entities over which the Group generally has between 20% and
50% of the voting rights, or over which the Group has significant influence, but which it does not
control.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Company’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(c) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of operations for all interest bearing
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price.
Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and accrued discount or
premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.  When loans become doubtful of
collection, they are written down to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter
recognised based on the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.

(d) Premium income
Gross premiums for traditional life are recognised as revenue when due. Revenue for universal life
products and annuity contributions are recognised when received. When premiums are recognised,
the related actuarial liabilities are computed, resulting in benefits and expenses being matched with
revenue.

Amounts received or paid under contracts with principally financial risk are recorded directly to the
balance sheet as an adjustment to policyholders’ funds on deposit. The interest credited to these funds is
recorded as an interest expense.
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Property and casualty insurance premiums are recognised on a pro-rated basis over the period of the
respective policies. Unearned premiums are the proportion of net premiums written in the current year
which relate to cover provided in the following year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e) Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is recognised on an accrual basis.  Loan origination fees for loans which are
likely to be drawn down are deferred, together with related direct costs, and recognised as an adjustment 
to the effective yield on the loan. Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the
negotiation of a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.  At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated using the closing exchange rate.

Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of transactions at rates different from those at the
dates of the transactions, and unrealised foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of operations.

Exchange differences on non-monetary financial assets are a component of the change in their fair value.
Depending on the classification of a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences are recognised
within stockholders’ equity if the non-monetary financial assets are classified as available-for-sale.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at exchange rates at the balance sheet date,
while statement of operations and cash flow items are translated at average rates over the year.
Differences resulting from the use of these different exchange rates are reflected in currency translation
reserves within stockholders’ equity.

(g) Claims
Claims payable represent the gross cost of all claims notified but not settled on the balance sheet date.
Any reinsurance recoverable is shown as a receivable from the reinsurer.

Death claims are recorded in the statement of operations net of reinsurance recoverable.

(h) Prepaid commissions
Prepaid commissions are expensed in the year incurred.  Should the policies be lapsed during that
period, the amounts are recovered from agents.  Commissions recovered on lapsed policies are included
in the statement of operations.

(i) Reinsurance ceded
The Group, including its general insurance subsidiary, cede insurance premiums and risk in the normal
course of business in order to limit the potential for losses arising from large exposures. Reinsurance
does not relieve the originating insurer of its liability. Reinsurance assets include the balances due from
reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, ceded unearned
premiums, ceded future life policy benefits and funds held under reinsurance treaties. Amounts
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with
the reinsured policy. Reinsurance is recorded gross in the balance sheet unless the right of setoff exists.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(j) Investments
(i) Investment securities

Investments are classified into the following categories: originated loans, and available-for-sale
securities. Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of
purchase.

Originated debt securities include those where money is provided to the issuer, either directly or 
through an intermediary, other than those that are originated with the intent to be sold
immediately or in the short-term, which are recorded as trading securities.  They are initially
recorded at cost, which is the cash given to originate the debt including any transaction costs,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale securities are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates or market prices. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs, and subsequently remeasured at fair value based on quoted bid prices or amounts derived
from cash flow models. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale securities are recognised in stockholders’ equity.  When the securities are 
disposed of or impaired, the related accumulated unrealised gains or losses included in
stockholders’ equity are transferred to the statement of operations.

A financial asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. The amount of the impairment loss for assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The recoverable amount of a financial asset
carried at fair value is the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the current
market interest rate for a similar financial asset.

All purchases and sales of investment securities are recognised at trade date.

Unquoted securities are recorded initially at cost. They are subsequently measured at fair value.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s financial statements at fair value, which
is determined on the basis of the net assets of the companies.

(ii) Investment property
Investment property is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied by the Group.
Investment property is treated as a long-term investment and is carried at fair value, representing
open market value determined annually by external valuers. Changes in fair values are recorded in
the statement of operations.

(iii) Repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (repurchase agreements) are treated as
collateralised financing transactions. The difference between the purchase and resale price is
treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective yield method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(k) Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash resources, investments, securities
purchased under resale agreement, other assets, and other liabilities.

The fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments are discussed in Note 43.

(l) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and insurance portfolios is calculated as the
amount by which the consideration paid and other related expenses exceed the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is amortised on the straight-line basis over its remaining useful
life for a period not exceeding fifteen years from the date of acquisition.

An excess of the identifiable net assets acquired over the acquisition cost is treated as negative
goodwill. Negative goodwill related to expected post acquisition losses is taken to income during the
period the future losses are recognised. Negative goodwill which does not relate to expected future 
losses and expenses is recognised as income immediately.

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such
indications exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of goodwill is fully
recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

(m) Segregated funds
The Group manages a number of segregated funds on behalf of policyholders.  The investment
returns on these unitised funds accrue directly to the policyholders with the Group assuming no risk.
Consequently, these funds are segregated and presented separately from the general fund of the
Group. Income earned from fund management fees is included in other income in the consolidated
statement of operations. Investments held in segregated funds are carried at their fair values. Unit
values are determined by dividing the value of the assets in the Funds on a valuation date by the
number of units in the Funds on the valuation date.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
maturity dates of less than 90 days from the dates of acquisition including cash and bank balances,
deposits held on call with banks and bank overdraft balances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(o) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings owned and used by the Group are treated as owner-occupied properties.
These properties are stated at their fair values based on valuations by external valuers, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation.

Increases in the carrying amounts arising from the revaluation of owner-occupied properties are 
included in the investment and fair value reserves. Decreases that offset previous increases of the
same asset are charged against the investment and fair value reserves. All other reductions are taken
directly to the statement of operations.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis at annual rates that will write off the carrying value
of each asset over the period of its expected useful life.  Annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Freehold buildings 2 - 5%

Leasehold improvements Period of lease, not to exceed ten years

Computer equipment and software 20 - 33 1/3%

Furniture 10%

Other equipment 15%

Motor vehicles 20%

Leased assets Shorter of period of lease or useful life of asset

Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment. Where the carrying amount of
an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their
carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit. Repairs and renewals are
charged to the statement of operations when the expenditure is incurred. On disposal of revalued
assets, the revaluation amounts are transferred to retained earnings.

(p) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(q) Loans and provisions for credit losses
Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are initially recorded at cost, which
is the cash given to originate the loan including any transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

A provision for credit losses is established if there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired.  A loan
is considered impaired when management determines that it is probable that all amounts due
according to the original contractual terms will not be collected.  When a loan has been identified as
impaired, the carrying amount of the loan is reduced by recording specific provisions for credit losses
to its estimated recoverable amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the loan.

The provision for credit losses also covers situations where there is objective evidence that probable
losses are present in components of the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date.  These have been
estimated based upon historical patterns of losses in each component, the credit ratings allocated to
the borrowers and reflecting the current economic climate in which the borrowers operate.

Write-offs are made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible or in the case of debt
forgiveness.  Write-offs are charged against previously established provisions for credit losses and
reduce the principal amount of a loan.  Recoveries in part or in full of amounts previously written-off
are credited to credit loss expense in the statement of operations.

(r) Taxation
Taxation on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred
taxes are recognised as income tax expense or benefit in the statement of operations except, where
they relate to items recorded in stockholders’ equity, they are also charged or credited to
stockholders’ equity.

(i) Current taxation
Current tax is the expected taxation payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable and tax losses in respect of
the previous years.

(ii) Deferred income taxes
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and their amounts as measured for tax purposes, which will result in taxable
amounts in future periods. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences which will result in deductible
amounts in future periods, but only to the extent it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available against which these differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the asset will be realised or the liability will be settled based on enacted rates.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from the same taxable entity,
relate to the same tax authority and when the legal right of offset exists.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(s) Policyholders’ funds
(i) Policyholders’ liabilities

The policy reserves have been calculated using the Policy Premium Method (PPM) of valuation.
Under this method, explicit allowance is made for all future benefits and expenses under the
policies and expected earned investment income.  The premiums, benefits and expenses for each
policy are projected and the resultant future cash flows are discounted back to the valuation date
to determine the reserves.

The process of calculating policy reserves necessarily involves the use of estimates concerning
such factors as mortality and morbidity rates, future investment yields and future expense levels.
Consequently, these liabilities include reasonable provisions for adverse deviations from the
estimates.

An actuarial valuation is prepared at least annually. Changes in the policyholders’ liabilities are
recorded in the statement of operations.

(ii) Policyholders’ benefits
Maturities and annuities are accounted for when due.

Death and disability claims and surrenders are recognised in the financial statements in the year
in which they have been notified.

(iii) Deposit administration funds
Deposit administration funds are managed by the Company but are not legally separated from
the general operations. The assets and liabilities of these funds are included in these financial
statements. The Company earns administration and investment fees on the management of these
funds.

(t) Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligations

The Company and its subsidiaries operate a number of defined benefit and defined contribution
plans, the assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. The pension 
plans are funded by payments from employees and by the relevant companies, taking into
account the recommendations of qualified actuaries.

The asset or liability in respect of defined benefit plans is the difference between the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date and the fair value of plan assets,
adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service cost.  Where a pension asset
arises, the amount recognised is limited to the net total of any cumulative unrecognised net
actuarial losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in 
the form of refunds from the plan or reduction in future contributions to the plan.  The pension
costs are assessed using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Under this method, the cost of
providing pensions is charged to the statement of operations so as to spread the regular cost
accordance with IAS 19 .  The pension obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows using estimated discount rates based on market yields on government
securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(t) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Pension obligations (continued)

A portion of actuarial gains and losses is recognised in the statement of operations if the net
cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains or losses at the end of the previous reporting period
exceeded 10 percent of the greater of the present value of the gross defined benefit obligation and 
the fair value of plan assets at that date. Any excess actuarial gains or losses are recognised in the
statement of operations over the average remaining service lives of the participating employees.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the statement of operations in the period
to which they relate.

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the 
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
the possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than twelve (12) months after the balance
sheet date are discounted to present value.

(ii) Other post-retirement obligations
The Group also provides supplementary health, dental and life insurance benefits to qualifying
employees upon retirement. The entitlement to these benefits is usually based on the employee
remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. These obligations are valued annually
by qualified actuaries.

(iii) Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the balance sheet date.

(iv) Equity compensation benefits
Employees, agents and sales managers of the Company are eligible to purchase shares in the
Company under a share purchase plan. In addition share options are granted to management as part
of a performance incentive scheme.

Under the share purchase plan, stock units are offered to eligible staff members each year at a 
discount of 25% of the last sale price on the trading date prior to any offer being made.

Under the performance incentive scheme, options are granted at a 25% discount of the last sale price
on the trading day prior to the grant date and are exercisable at that price. Options are exercisable
beginning one year from the date of grant and have a contractual option term of five years. When the
options are exercised, the proceeds received net of any transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium. The Group does not make a charge to staff costs in connection
with share options.

49

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 40 to 118 - Notes to Fin

Wednesday, May 12, 2004 8:08:35 PM



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(u) Special investment reserve
Unrealised gains on quoted equities and investment properties are recorded in retained earnings
under IFRS. Regulatory reserve requirements are met through the following:

(i) Net unrealised gains brought forward at the beginning of each year are transferred from the
special investment reserve to retained earnings at the following rates:

Quoted equities - 25%
Investment properties - 10%

(ii) Net unrealised gains earned during the year are transferred from retained earnings to the
investment reserve at the following rates:

Quoted equities - 75%
Investment properties - 90%

(v) Leases
(i) As lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recognized at the
inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of
minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and interest
charges so as to produce a constant rate of charge on the lease obligation. The interest element of
the lease payments is charged to the statement of operations over the lease period.

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the statement of
operations on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ii) As lessor
When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is
recognized as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the
receivable is recognized as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognized over the term of
the lease in a manner which reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the
lease.

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment in the
balance sheet. They are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with
similar owned assets. Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(w) Fiduciary activities
Assets and income arising thereon together with related undertakings to return such assets to
customers are excluded from these financial statements where the Company or its subsidiaries act in a 
fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(x) Dividends
Dividends are recorded as a deduction from shareholders’ equity in the period in which they have
been approved.

(y) Segment reporting
Business segments provide products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of other business segments. Geographical segments provide products or services within a
particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
components in other economic environments.

(z) Comparative information
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in the
presentation in the current year. In particular, the comparatives have been adjusted or extended to
take into account the requirements of IFRS (Note 49).

3. Responsibilities of the Appointed Actuary and External Auditors

The Board of Directors pursuant to the Insurance Act appoints the Actuary. Her responsibility is to carry
out an annual valuation of the company’s policy liabilities in accordance with accepted actuarial practice
and regulatory requirements and report thereon to the policyholders and shareholders. In performing the
valuation, the Actuary makes assumptions as to the future rates of interest, asset defaults, mortality,
morbidity, claims experience, policy termination, inflation, reinsurance recoveries, expenses and other
contingencies, taking into consideration the circumstances of the company and the insurance policies in 
force.

The shareholders pursuant to the Companies Act appoint the external auditors. Their responsibility is to
conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial statements in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and report thereon to the shareholders. In carrying out their audit, the auditors also
make use of the work of the appointed Actuary and her report on the policy liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Individual

Life Group

Services Services

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenues 3,080,044 2,450,372 73,079 0 5,603,495

Revenue from other segments 85,306 0 0 (85,306) 0

Total revenues 3,165,350 2,450,372 73,079 (85,306) 5,603,495

Operating expense (2,295,958) (2,028,349) (68,026) 85,306 (4,307,027)

Profit before tax 869,392 422,023 5,053 0 1,296,468

Income tax expense (48,258) (38,382) (1,145) 0 (87,785)

Net profit 821,134 383,641 3,908 0 1,208,683

Segment assets 12,556,695 3,839,111 177,330 (1,002,772) 15,570,364

Investments in associates 4,099

Goodwill 788,890

16,363,353

Segment liabilities 8,563,684 3,606,892 118,207 (70,718) 12,218,065

Retirement benefit obligations 305,140

12,523,205

Capital expenditure 98,669 90,285 2,909 0 191,863

Depreciation 39,386 33,879 3,896 0 77,161

2003

Other Eliminations Group

4. Segmental Financial Information

The Group is managed on a matrix basis, reflecting both line of business and geography. Accordingly,
segment information is presented in two formats. The Group is organised into three primary business
segments:

(a) Individual Life Services - This incorporates provision of life insurance services to individuals.

(b) Group Services – This includes group and creditor life, personal accident, annuities, investments,
pension fund management and the administration of trust accounts.

(c) Other operations of the Group comprise property management and general insurance services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Jamaica

Grand

Cayman Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 5,257,612 345,883 5,603,495

Total Assets 13,999,807 2,363,546 16,363,353

Revenue 3,798,764 240,125 4,038,889

Total Assets 9,097,280 1,769,477 10,866,757

2003

2002

Individual

Life Group

Services Services

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenues 2,175,438 1,819,318 44,133 0 4,038,889

Revenue from other segments 34,325 47,978 0 (82,303) 0

Total revenues 2,209,763 1,867,296 44,133 (82,303) 4,038,889

Operating expense (1,660,175) (1,511,312) (48,144) 82,303 (3,137,328)

Profit before tax 549,588 355,984 (4,011) 0 901,561

Income tax expense (36,414) (6,756) 0 0 (43,170)

Net profit 513,174 349,228 (4,011) 0 858,391

Segment assets 7,045,840 3,754,194 90,802 (28,184) 10,862,652

Investments in associates 4,105

10,866,757

Segment liabilities 4,101,339 4,974,665 106,256 0 9,182,260

Retirement benefit obligations 324,908

9,507,168

Capital expenditure 13,655 12,032 1,179 0 26,866

Depreciation 18,582 16,373 2,583 0 37,538

2002

Other Eliminations Group

The Group’s secondary format for segment information is geographic:

4. Segmental Financial Information (Continued)

53

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 40 to 118 - Notes to Fin

Wednesday, May 12, 2004 8:08:36 PM



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Carrying Carrying
Months Months  Years  5 Years  Value  Value

2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Available-for-sale -
Government of Jamaica 30,007 0 261,210 2,494,840 2,786,057 1,926,446
Foreign governments 0 0 0 234,619 234,619 229,867

Other 8,518 8,275 0 69,883 86,676 65,972

38,525 8,275 261,210 2,799,342 3,107,352 2,222,285

Quoted shares 707,293 403,837

Unit trusts 46,298 14,621

Unquoted shares 11,533 11,533

3,872,476 2,652,276

Originated loans -

Government of Jamaica 52,040 109,079 605,649 2,192,280 2,959,048 1,898,967

Mortgage loans 0 0 7,605 637,348 644,953 133,532

Promissory notes 130,018 0 160,000 0 290,018 160,000

Corporate debentures 45 0 641 0 686 742

Term deposits 53,715 15,045 1,837 4,290 74,887 188,531

235,818 124,124 775,732 2,833,918 3,969,592 2,381,772

Policy loans 515,235 342,325

4,484,827 2,724,097

The Group

Remaining Term to Maturity

5. Securities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Carrying Carrying
Months Months  Years  5 Years  Value  Value

2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Available-for-sale -
Government of Jamaica 30,007 0 261,210 1,752,520 2,043,737 1,539,324

Quoted shares 231,014 79,282

Unit trusts 46,297 14,621

Unquoted shares 11,533 11,533

2,332,581 1,644,760

Originated loans -

Government of Jamaica 52,040 109,079 605,649 2,192,281 2,959,049 1,898,968

Mortgage loans 0 0 7,605 631,303 638,908 128,325

Promissory notes 130,018 0 160,000 0 290,018 160,000

Corporate debentures 45 0 641 0 686 742

Term deposits 0 0 6,098 0 6,098 1,155

Other 0 0 2,670 0 2,670 1,996

182,103 109,079 782,663 2,823,584 3,897,429 2,191,186

Policy loans 287,151 158,158

4,184,580 2,349,344

The Company

Remaining Term to Maturity

5. Securities (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

5. Securities (Continued)

(a) Included in investments are Government of Jamaica Local Registered Stocks valued at J$40,000,000
(2002: J$40,000,000) which have been pledged as security for overdraft facilities with the National
Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited and The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited.

(b) Included in investments are Government of Jamaica Local Registered Stocks valued at J$180,000,000
(2002: J$90,000,000) which have been pledged with the Regulators, the Financial Services
Commission, pursuant to Section 8 of the Insurance Regulations, 2001.

(c) Included in investments are term deposits valued at EC$200,000 (2002: EC$200,000) which have
been pledged by one of the company’s subsidiaries, Global Life Assurance Company Limited with the
Government of Antigua, pursuant to Section 6 (a) of the said country’s Insurance Act, 1967.

(d) Included in term deposits for the Group is an amount of $nil (2002 - $56,418,000) deposited in an
escrow account in 2001. This amount was being held in the prior year in accordance with the terms of
the sale agreement of Atlantic Southern Insurance Company Limited, a former subsidiary. During the 
year the deposit in the escrow account was used to offset claims made by the purchaser under the sale
agreement.

Gross gains realised on sales or maturities of available-for-sale investment securities were as follows:

6. Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements

The Group and the Company entered into repurchase agreements collateralised by Government of Jamaica
securities. These agreements may result in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the
transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligation.

Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Carrying Carrying
Months Months  Years  5 Years  Value  Value

2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Securities purchased

under resale agreements 485,719 30,169 0 0 515,888 81,359

The Group and The Company

Remaining Term to Maturity

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

8,834 (45,379)Gross gains/(losses)

The Group and The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At beginning of year

As previously stated 257,458 84,681 111,611 84,681

Effect of International Financial 

Reporting Standards 49 0 145,086 0 8,346

Restated 257,458 229,767 111,611 93,027

Assumed on acquisition of Island Life 47 0 0 160,995 0

Acquired during the year 100,845 0 100,845 0

Disposed during the year (34,500) 0 (34,500) 0

Transferred to property, plant and

equipment due to IAS 40 11 0 0 (160,995) 0

Exchange differences 25,431 9,107 0 0

Fair value gains 11,000 18,584 11,000 18,584

At end of year 360,234 257,458 188,956 111,611

The Group The Company

Rental income and repairs and maintenance expenditure in relation to investments properties amounted to
$4,137,000 (2002 - $3,155,000) and $3,374,000 (2002 - $4,384,000) respectively for the Group and the
Company.

The properties were valued at current market value as at 31 December 2003 by Allison Pitter and Company
Limited, Deloitte & Touche Property Management (Grand Cayman), Easton Douglas & Company Limited
and Clinton Cunningham & Associates, qualified property appraisers and valuers.

Prior to 2001 the Group recorded fair value changes, net of deferred taxes, in the investment and fair value
reserves in stockholders’ equity. The amounts included in that reserve at the date of adoption of IAS 40
should be transferred to the statement of operations. However, the Insurance Regulations 2001 requires
that such fair value changes be recognised in a reserve and transferred to the statement of operations at a
rate of 10% per annum (Note 22).

7. Investment Properties
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balances with banks payable on demand 96,456 287,116 44,252 247,190

Cheques and cash on hand 80 0 87 0

96,536 287,116 44,339 247,190

Short term deposits 35,283 28,779 1,523 0

Investment securities 135,763 117,796 82,092 82,345

Less:

Bank overdraft 27 (90,429) (109,270) (86,688) (103,196)

177,153 324,421 41,266 226,339

The Group The Company

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprises the following balances
with maturity dates not exceeding 90 days.

9. Investment in Subsidiaries
2003 2002

$'000 $'000

Global Life Assurance Company Limited 1,188,713 638,260

LOJ Property Management Limited (14,376) (14,772)

Sagicor Re Insurance Limited 10,039 0

LOJ Pooled Investment Fund Limited 1 1

1,184,377 623,489

This represents LOJ’s share of equity, net of dividends paid from post-acquisition profits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

10. Investment in Associated Companies

(i) Name of Companies Principal Activity Equity Capital held by Company

St. Andrew Developers Limited Real estate development 33.33%

Lested Development Limited Operation of a child care

centre (dormant)  35%

Both companies are incorporated and resident in Jamaica.

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

2 2

(2,501) (2,501)

6,598 6,604

4,099 4,105

Shares, at cost

The Group and The Company

Share of post acquisition reserves

Loans and current accounts

(ii)   The investment in associated companies is represented as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost or Valuation -

01 January 2003 1,356 42,000 675,516 24,224 743,096

Cost of acquired assets 47 0 16,206 166,201 5,536 187,943

Transferred from investment property 7 0 160,995 0 0 160,995

Revaluation adjustment 0 12,000 0 0 12,000

Additions 9,090 0 166,016 16,757 191,863

Disposal 0 0 (4,270) (5,716) (9,986)

Translation adjustment 0 0 2,219 0 2,219

31 December 2003 10,446 231,201 1,005,682 40,801 1,288,130

Depreciation -

01 January 2003 1,248 6,300 597,043 9,332 613,923

Depreciation on acquired assets 47 0 0 140,486 1,663 142,149

Charge for the year 880 6,289 64,859 5,133 77,161

Relieved on disposals 0 0 (2,465) (2,374) (4,839)

Translation adjustment 0 0 1,944 0 1,944

31 December 2003 2,128 12,589 801,867 13,754 830,338

Net Book Value -

31 December 2003 8,318 218,612 203,815 27,047 457,792

31 December 2002 108 35,700 78,473 14,892 129,173

The Group

Leasehold

Buildings and

Improvements

Freehold

Land and 

Buildings

Motor

Vehicles Total

Furniture

and

Equipment
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

In accordance with the Group’s policy, certain owner-occupied properties were independently revalued
during 2003 by professional real estate valuers. The excess of the revaluation over the carrying value of the
freehold land and buildings on such date amounting to $12,000,000 has been credited to investment and
fair value reserves. (Note 20).

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost or Valuation -

01 January 2003 0 42,000 647,723 20,072 709,795

Cost of acquired assets 47 0 16,206 166,201 5,536 187,943

Transferred from investment property 7 0 160,995 0 0 160,995

Revaluation adjustment 0 12,000 0 0 12,000

Additions 8,861 0 165,372 14,674 188,907

Disposal 0 0 (4,209) (5,306) (9,515)

31 December 2003 8,861 231,201 975,087 34,976 1,250,125

Depreciation -

01 January 2003 0 6,300 574,548 7,514 588,362

Depreciation on acquired assets 47 0 0 140,486 1,663 142,149

Charge for the year 787 6,289 61,061 4,358 72,495

Relieved on disposals 0 0 (2,451) (1,964) (4,415)

31 December 2003 787 12,589 773,644 11,571 798,591

Net Book Value -

31 December 2003 8,074 218,612 201,443 23,405 451,534

31 December 2002 0 35,700 73,175 12,558 121,433

The Company

Leasehold

Buildings

Freehold

Land and 

Buildings

Motor

Vehicles Total

Furniture

and

Equipment

11. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

12. Goodwill

2003

Note $'000

47 830,410

(41,520)

788,890

Goodwill arising on acquisition

The Group and 

The Company

Amortised during the year

Net book amount

This represents premium on the acquisition of Island Life Insurance Company Limited during the year.
Goodwill is to be amortised over a period of fifteen (15) years, which is estimated to be the economic
useful life.

13. Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an 
effective tax rate of:

� 7.5% for The Company; and

� 33 1/3 % for LOJ Property Management Limited.

The subsidiaries incorporated in Grand Cayman operate under a zero tax regime.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance as at 1 January 32,247 26,262 28,058 23,750

Assumed on acquisition/amalgamation of 

Island Life 2,765 0 (4,667) 0

(Charged)\credited to statement of operations (6,311) 5,985 2,884 4,308

Balance as at 31 December 28,701 32,247 26,275 28,058

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

13.   Deferred Income Taxes (Continued)

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deferred income tax assets

Pensions and other post-retirment benefits 24,209 26,425 23,059 24,322

Decelerated tax depreciation 7,340 1,482 6,465 441

Tax losses unused 0 1,046 0 0

Other 2,119 3,294 2,119 3,295

33,668 32,247 31,643 28,058

Deferred income tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation 3,152 0 3,152 0

Other temporary differences 1,815 0 2,216 0

4,967 0 5,368 0

The Group The Company

The deferred tax charged/(credited) in the statement of operations comprises the following temporary
differences:

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accelerated tax depreciation (2,706) (1,117) (6,025) (1,117)

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 2,216 (1,718) 1,263 (2,128)

Tax losses 2,356 0 0 0

Other temporary differences 4,445 (3,150) 1,878 (1,063)

6,311 (5,985) (2,884) (4,308)

The Group The Company

Deferred income taxes liabilities have not been provided for on the withholding and other taxes that would
be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain subsidiaries to the extent that such earnings are
permanently reinvested. Such undistributed earnings totaled $297,151,000 (2002 - $8,968,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Premiums due and unpaid 118,341 105,501 110,111 100,920

Interest receivable 262,686 118,628 222,166 118,628

Prepaid commissions 112,114 42,487 112,114 42,487

Related party balances 227,291 10,237 312,800 72,216

Other receivables 329,347 372,303 179,002 182,877

1,049,779 649,156 936,193 517,128

The Group The Company

14. Other Assets

15. Due from Parent and Ultimate Parent Company

This represents amounts due from parent company and ultimate parent company, in the normal course of
business.

16. Segregated Funds

(a) The Group and the Company manage accounts totaling approximately $4,380,130,000
(2002 - $3,879,631,000) and $4,249,335,000 (2002 - $3,786,103,000) respectively on behalf of certain
life insurance policyholders under the Balanced Fund, LOJ Equity Fund (formerly the Long Term
Securities Fund), LOJ Fixed Income Fund (formerly the Short Term Deposits Fund), in addition to the,
Capital Growth Fund and Investor Growth Fund (funds acquired from Island Life Insurance Company
Limited). The assets are the property of the policyholders who share all rewards and risks of the
performance of the Funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Government securities 498,897 360,076 492,440 360,076

Quoted equities 29,350 63,165 19,402 63,165

Real estate 28,803 96,503 28,803 96,503

Securities purchased under resale agreements

and short-term loans 101,447 42,358 101,447 36,416

Unit trusts 24,736 14,611 24,736 14,551

683,233 576,713 666,828 570,711

The Group The Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Government securities 2,438,539 2,592,565 2,387,851 2,592,565

Quoted equities 521,715 162,585 443,779 162,585

Real estate 646,172 576,975 646,172 576,975

Repurchase agreements and short term loans 265,982 197,978 265,982 106,602

Unit trusts 157,599 101,009 157,599 101,009

Other assets 350,123 248,519 347,952 246,367

4,380,130 3,879,631 4,249,335 3,786,103

The Group The Company

16. Segregated Funds (Continued)

(b) Assets of the Segregated Funds

(c) Income by Type on Segregated Funds’ Investments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

17. Related Party Balances and Transactions

(a) The balance sheet includes the following balances with related parties and companies:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current account - related companies 169,271 0 119,306 36,767

Current account - related parties 9,421 181,349 111,166 10,774

The Group The Company

(b) The statement of operations account includes the following transactions with related parties and
companies:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Related parties

Administration fees 80,464 70,452 80,464 70,542

Interest income 32,671 45,545 13,674 35,545

Management fee income 232,326 185,141 232,326 185,141

Rent expense (55,077) (30,110) (55,077) (30,110)

Premium income 0 0 5,266 0

Related companies

Interest income 10,195 4,154 27,320 3,924

Lease rental 0 1,253 1,850 1,253

Management fee income 0 31,250 47,589 23,894

Management fee expense 6,000 0 6,000 0

Reinsurance costs 0 8,365 10,728 8,365

Other 0 15,430 10,270 15,430

The Group The Company

Related parties include the Pooled Investment Funds and the segregated funds managed by the
Company.

Related companies include ultimate parent company, parent company and fellow subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Ordinary

Shares

Zero coupon 

non-

cumulative

shares

$'000 $'000

1,656,248 1,056,684

1,656,248 1,056,684

1,656,248 1,056,684

547,639 0

317,010 (1,056,684)

2,520,897 0

Number of Shares

At 1 January 2001

At 31 December 2003

Issued and fully paid:

At 31 December 2001

At 31 December 2002

Shares issued

Conversion of shares

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

1,359,834 300,000

0 1,700

0 300

0 975

0 175

0 1,056,684

1,359,834 1,359,834

975,000  10.37% "C"  redeemable cumulative preference shares of $1 each

175,00  10.37% "A" redeemable cumulative preference shares of $1 each

Zero coupon non-cumulative convertible preference shares of $1 each

13,598,340,000 (2002 - 3,000,000,000) ordinary shares of $0.10 each

The Group and The Company

1,700,000  8.17% "A" redeemable cumulative preference shares of $1 each

300,000  8.17% "B" redeemable cumulative preference shares of $1 each

Authorised:

18. Share Capital and Share Premium

67

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 40 to 118 - Notes to Fin

Wednesday, May 12, 2004 8:08:39 PM



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

18. Share Capital and Share Premium (Continued)

Ordinary

Shares

Zero coupon 

non-

cumulative

shares

Share

Capital

Share

Premium

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

165,624 1,056,684 1,222,308 128,985

165,624 1,056,684 1,222,308 128,985

165,624 1,056,684 1,222,308 128,985

0 (1,056,684) (1,056,684) 0

47 52,403 0 52,403 1,487,576

31,701 0 31,701 1,024,983

41 2,000 0 2,000 38,500

41 361 0 361 5,358

252,089 0 252,089 2,685,402

Acquisition of Island Life Insurance

Company Limited

Conversion of zero coupon non-

cumulative preference shares of $1 each

Employee Share Purchase Plan

Executive Stock Option Plan

At 1 January 2001

At 31 December 2003

Issued and fully paid:

At 31 December 2001

At 31 December 2002

Conversion of zero coupon non-cumulative

preference shares of $1 each

Issue of shares:

a) The zero coupon non-cumulative convertible preference shares carried voting rights only in respect of
resolutions to wind up the company, reduce its share capital or any action taken which may prejudice or
limit the right of the converted preference shares, which entitlement will be one vote for each share held.
The shareholders of the converted shares have the right, ranking pari passu with the holders of the ordinary
shares, to participate in any revenue or capital distributions made by the company.

b) During the year, the zero coupon non-cumulative shares were converted to ordinary shares consequent
to the attainment of the solvency ratio delineated by the Insurance Act 2001. The zero coupon shares
were converted to ordinary shares of $0.10 at a rate of three ordinary shares for every ten preference
shares. The converted shares shall rank pari passu for all purposes and in all respects with the existing
ordinary shares of the company.

c) During the year, redeemable cumulative preference shares amounting to 3,150,000 of $1 each were
cancelled. These were replaced with ordinary shares equivalent to the nominal value of the preference
shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

19. Capital Reserve

This represents the capital redemption reserve fund arising on the redemption of preference shares.

20. Investment and Fair Value Reserves

This represents the unrealised surplus or deficit on the re-measurement of available-for-sale securities, the
revaluation of owner-occupied properties and an adjustment for gains or losses on available-for-sale
securities which have matured or have been disposed.

21. Currency Translation Reserve

This represents the unrealised foreign exchange gain or loss on the translation of the overseas
subsidiaries, Global Life Assurance Company Limited and Sagicor Re Insurance Limited.

22. Special Investment Reserve

This represents a non-distributable reserve under the provisions of the Insurance Regulations, 2001.

23. Dividends Declared

2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000

252,090 0

27 151,253 0

403,343 0

First interim dividends (10 cents per share)

The Group and The Company

Second interim dividends (6 cents per share)

The first interim dividend was paid on 27 October 2003 to shareholders on record as at 6 October 2003. The
second interim dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 22 December 2003 and was paid on 30
January 2004 to shareholders on record as at 31 December 2003.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities

(a) Composition by line of business is as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Group annuities 1,727,025 1,048,940 1,685,330 1,035,918

Group insurance 286,668 250,724 286,668 250,724

Individual insurance 1,412,223 1,276,562 787,794 615,962

3,425,916 2,576,226 2,759,792 1,902,604

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities (Continued)

(b) Provisions for future policyholders’ liabilities:

Group

Annuities

Individual

Insurance

Group

Insurance Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,048,940 1,276,562 250,724 2,576,226

Assumed on acquisition 192,586 353,399 10,644 556,629

Normal changes in policyholders' liabilities 482,004 (340,497) 25,300 166,807

Changes as a result of revaluation 3,495 122,759 0 126,254

Balance at end of the year 1,727,025 1,412,223 286,668 3,425,916

Balance at the beginning of the year 999,489 1,097,090 247,654 2,344,233

Normal changes in policyholders' liabilities 49,451 141,454 3,070 193,975

Changes as a result of revaluation 0 38,018 0 38,018

1,048,940 1,276,562 250,724 2,576,226

2002

The Group

2003
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities (Continued)

(b) Provisions for future policyholders’ liabilities (Continued):

Group

Annuities

Individual

Insurance

Group

Insurance Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,035,918 615,962 250,724 1,902,604

Assumed on amalgamation 249,084 601,527 9,845 860,456

Normal changes in policyholders' liabilities 400,328 (429,695) 26,099 (3,268)

1,685,330 787,794 286,668 2,759,792

Balance at the beginning of the year 983,776 609,435 247,654 1,840,865

Normal changes in policyholders' liabilities 52,142 6,527 3,070 61,739

1,035,918 615,962 250,724 1,902,604

2002

The Company

2003
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities (Continued)

(c) Investment and other assets supporting policyholders’ and other liabilities:

Insurance

Pensions

and

Annuities

Other

Liabilities

Capital and 

Surplus Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Quoted securities 166,479 0 0 587,113 753,592

Investment properties 0 0 0 360,235 360,235

Fixed interest securities 2,139,311 2,927,330 0 1,923,450 6,990,091

Mortgages 441,906 91,605 0 132,729 666,240

Other assets 526,768 35,309 1,163,843 1,494,980 3,220,900

3,274,464 3,054,244 1,163,843 4,498,507 11,991,058

Quoted securities 0 0 80,931 0 80,931

Investment properties 0 0 103,265 0 103,265

Fixed interest securities 2,728,540 1,369,321 0 0 4,097,861

Mortgages 128,325 0 0 1,275,715 1,404,040

Other assets 1,301,029 0 0 0 1,301,029

4,157,894 1,369,321 184,196 1,275,715 6,987,126

2002

The Group

2003
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Insurance

Pensions

and

Annuities

Other

Liabilities

Capital and 

Surplus Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Quoted securities 166,479 0 0 110,832 277,311

Investment properties 0 0 0 188,958 188,958

Fixed interest securities 1,503,846 2,845,740 0 1,470,082 5,819,668

Mortgages 441,906 91,605 0 126,684 660,195

Other assets 298,684 35,309 1,015,285 2,617,795 3,967,073

2,410,915 2,972,654 1,015,285 4,514,351 10,913,205

Quoted securities 0 0 80,931 0 80,931

Investment properties 0 0 103,265 0 103,265

Fixed interest securities 2,728,540 1,028,126 0 0 3,756,666

Mortgages 128,325 0 0 1,185,771 1,314,096

Other assets 614,879 0 0 0 614,879

3,471,744 1,028,126 184,196 1,185,771 5,869,837

2002

The Company

2003

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities (Continued)

(c)   Investment and other assets supporting policyholders’ and other liabilities (Continued):
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Annuities

Group

Insurance

Individual

Insurance Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Change in assumed investment yields and

inflation rate 67,962 0 (367,022) (299,060)

Foreign currency translation 3,495 0 122,759 126,254

Change due to the issuance of new policies

and decrements on inforce policies 200,710 25,300 118,222 344,232

Change due to other actuarial assumptions 213,332 0 (91,697) 121,635

485,499 25,300 (217,738) 293,061

Change in assumed investment yields and

inflation rate (14,521) 0 74,560 60,039

Foreign currency translation 0 0 38,018 38,018

Change due to the issuance of new policies

and the decrements on inforce policies 64,827 3,070 (111,767) (43,870)

Change due to other actuarial assumptions (855) 0 178,661 177,806

49,451 3,070 179,472 231,993

2002

The Group

2003

24. Provision for Policyholders’ Liabilities (Continued)

(d) Changes in policy liabilities were caused by the following business activities and changes in actuarial
assumptions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders Liabilities (Continued)

(d) Changes in policy liabilities were caused by the following business activities and changes in actuarial
assumptions (Continued).

Annuities

Group

Insurance

Individual

Insurance Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Change in assumed investment yields and

inflation rate 58,439 0 (228,296) (169,857)

Change due to the issuance of new policies

and decrements on inforce policies 146,860 26,099 (123,859) 49,100

Change due to other actuarial assumptions 195,029 0 (77,540) 117,489

400,328 26,099 (429,695) (3,268)

Change in assumed investment yields and

inflation rate (14,521) 0 18,951 4,430

Change due to the issuance of new policies

and the decrements on inforce policies 67,518 3,070 (146,204) (75,616)

Change due to other actuarial assumptions (855) 0 133,780 132,925

52,142 3,070 6,527 61,739

2002

The Company

2003
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

24. Provision for Policyholders Liabilities (Continued)

(e) Policy Assumptions

Policy liabilities have two major assumptions, best estimate assumptions and provisions for adverse
deviation assumptions.

(i) Best estimate assumptions:

Assumptions cover the lifetime of the policies and are made for many variables including
mortality, morbidity, investment yields, rates of policy termination, operating expenses and certain
taxes.

Mortality and morbidity
The assumptions are based on past emerging Group and industry experience. Assumptions
vary by sex, underwriting class and type of policy.

Investment yields
The Group broadly matches assets and liabilities by line of business. The projected cash flows
from these assets are combined with future reinvestment rates derived from the current 
economic outlook and the Group’s investment policy to determine expected rates of return on
these assets for all future years. Investment yields include expected future asset defaults.

Policy terminations
Lapses relate to termination of policies due to non payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to
voluntary termination of policies by the policyholders. Policy terminations are based on the
Group’s own experience adjusted for expected future conditions.

Policy expenses
Policy maintenance expenses are derived from the Group’s own internal cost studies projected
into the future with an allowance for inflation.

(ii) Provision for adverse deviation assumptions

The basic assumptions made in establishing policy liabilities are best estimates for a range of
possible outcomes. To recognise the uncertainty in establishing these best estimates, to allow for 
possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that the reserves are adequate
to pay future benefits, the appointed actuary is required to include a margin in each assumption.

The impact of these margins is to increase reserves and so decrease the income that would be
recognised on inception of the policy. The Canadian Institute of Actuaries prescribes a range of
allowable margins. The Group uses assumptions at the conservative end of the range, taking into
account the risk profiles of the business.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

25. Pension Funds

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year 546,036 369,832 481,241 369,832

Pension funds assumed on acquisition 732,081 0 732,081 0

Deposit received 144,782 164,064 140,193 105,677

Interest earned on deposits 169,445 51,660 148,239 47,972

Service charges (12,227) (4,514) (6,185) (4,514)

Transfers to Pooled Investment Fund (1,997) (4,000) (1,997) (4,000)

Withdrawals made (149,705) (34,325) (144,812) (33,726)

Revaluation adjustment 12,964 3,319 0 0

1,441,379 546,036 1,348,760 481,241

The Group The Company

These represent funds managed on behalf of pension plans administered by the Group.  Interest credited to
the funds are paid at a fixed annual rate of return, with the rate being revised on an annual basis. At the end of
the year, there were 127 (2002- 36) clients.  The average interest rate paid during the year was 11.5% (2002 –
11.5%).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

26. Retirement Benefit Obligations

The Group operates two types of pension plans and these are described below:

(a) The Group operates defined contributory plans for eligible sales agents and some administrative staff.
There is also a contributory defined benefit plan for eligible administrative staff. The assets are held in
a trust fund and are separate and apart from the assets of the Company. The benefits for the staff are
based on service and salary, whereas the benefits for agents are based on contributions and interest.
The solvency level (the ratio of assets to past service liabilities) was 89% (2002 – 85%). The company
is paying contributions at the level recommended in the latest actuarial valuation so that a solvency
level of 100% can be attained over three years. 

The plan is valued by the internal actuary annually and reviewed by an independent actuary. The latest
actuarial valuation was done as at 31 December 2003.

(b) Global Life Assurance Company Limited participates in the Cayman Islands Chamber of Commerce
Pension Plan. This plan is a money purchase contributory plan covering all the employees in the
Cayman Islands. Contributions are vested immediately. The company contributes at a fixed rate of 7%
of pensionable earnings.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Pension scheme 183,190 223,963 182,148 220,742

Other post-retirement benefits 121,950 100,945 118,341 97,854

305,140 324,908 300,489 318,596

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

26. Retirement Benefit Obligations (Continued)

(a) Pension Scheme

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Present value of funded obligations 998,779 1,026,548 987,370 997,384

Fair value of plan assets (1,169,983) (880,188) (1,140,334) (860,364)

(171,204) 146,360 (152,964) 137,020

Unrecognised actuarial gains 354,394 77,603 335,112 83,722

Liability in the balance sheet 183,190 223,963 182,148 220,742

The Group The Company

The Pooled Investment Fund Limited, which manages the Group’s pension plan, has assets including
property occupied by the Group, with a market value of approximately $383,492,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

26. Retirement Benefit Obligations (Continued)

(a) Pension Scheme (Continued)

The amounts recognised in the statement of operations are as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current service cost 22,902 35,827 21,212 34,591

Interest cost 137,559 122,683 133,445 119,438

Expected return on plan assets (113,454) (88,796) (110,634) (86,300)

Net actuarial losses recognised in year 217 0 0 0

Total, included in staff costs 47,224 69,714 44,023 67,729

The Group The Company

The actual return on plan assets was $1,176,572,000 (2002: $880,188,000).

Movement in the liability recognised in the balance sheet:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 January 223,963 218,192 220,742 213,158

Total expense - as above 47,215 69,714 44,023 67,729

Contributions paid (87,988) (63,943) (82,617) (60,145)

At 31 December 183,190 223,963 182,148 220,742

The Group The Company

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2003 2002

15.0% 12.5%

12.0% 12.0%

10.0% 10.0%

3.5% 3.5%

Discount rate

The Group and The Company

Expected return on plan assets

Future salary increases

Future pension increases
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

26. Retirement Benefit Obligations (Continued)

(b) Other post-retirement benefits
In addition to pension benefits, the Company offers retiree medical and life insurance benefits that
contribute to the health care and life insurance coverage of employees and beneficiaries after retirement.
The method of accounting and frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit
pension schemes.

In addition to the assumptions used for the pension scheme, the main actuarial assumption is a long-
term increase in health costs of 10.5 % per year (2002 – 10.5%).

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Present value of funded obligations 191,629 115,614 187,043 111,977

Unrecognised actuarial losses (69,679) (14,669) (68,702) (14,123)

Liability in the balance sheet 121,950 100,945 118,341 97,854

The Group The Company

The amounts recognised in the statement of operations are as follows:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current service cost 7,650 5,953 7,607 5,710

Interest cost 15,265 11,303 14,805 10,960

Net actuarial losses recognised in year 385 0 371 0

Total included in staff costs 23,300 17,256 22,783 16,670

The Group The Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Liability at beginning of year 100,945 85,257 97,854 82,752

Total expense, as above 23,300 17,256 22,783 16,670

Contributions paid (2,295) (1,568) (2,296) (1,568)

Liability at end of year 121,950 100,945 118,341 97,854

The Group The Company

Movements in the amounts recognised in the balance sheet:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

27. Other Liabilities

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accounts payable and accruals 247,447 65,873 186,560 62,277

Annuities payable 35,655 0 35,655 0

Benefits payable to policyholders 554,740 416,907 524,591 366,017

Bank overdraft 90,429 109,270 86,688 103,196

Dividends payable 151,253 0 151,253 0

Promissory notes issued 0 45,000 0 45,000

Miscellaneous 202,337 163,155 194,425 91,574

Provisions: 28

Accrued vacation 6,966 5,695 6,966 5,695

Bonus accruals 59,583 21,000 59,583 21,000

Funds held in escrow on sale of subsidiary 0 86,174 0 0

Restructuring costs 0 107,168 0 107,168

Co-insurance costs 0 13,519 0 13,519

66,549 233,556 66,549 147,382

Premiums not applied 103,606 66,053 69,192 61,065

Reinsurance payable 135,779 55,723 120,149 55,723

1,587,795 1,155,537 1,435,062 932,234

The Group The Company

The bank overdraft balance represents mainly uncleared effects. The actual balance at the bank was positive
at year end. The effective interest rate on the overdraft facilities was 65% (2002: - 20.75%).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

28. Provisions

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At beginning of year 233,556 86,174 147,382 0

Provided during the year 60,854 147,382 60,854 147,382

Utilised during the year (227,861) 0 (141,687) 0

At end of year 66,549 233,556 66,549 147,382

Comprising:

Provision for 2002 0 86,174 0 0

Provision for 2003 66,549 147,382 66,549 147,382

66,549 233,556 66,549 147,382

The Group The Company

29. Due to Ultimate Parent Company

This represents amounts due to Sagicor Life Inc. in the normal course of business.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

30. Net Premium Income

(a)    Gross premiums by line of business:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Group insurance:

Group creditor life 4,108 3,149 4,108 3,149

Group life 335,066 339,911 259,167 323,415

Group health 1,195,489 1,074,541 1,195,082 1,074,030

Other 99,712 84,065 97,406 84,065

1,634,375 1,501,666 1,555,763 1,484,659

Individual life 2,139,541 1,441,397 1,415,122 1,189,083

Annuities and pensions 277,836 192,968 249,114 192,968

Property and casualty 49,281 0 0 0

4,101,033 3,136,031 3,219,999 2,866,710

The Group The Company

Reinsurance premiums by line of business:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Group insurance:

Group life 21,519 30,259 16,252 26,661

Group health 11,419 9,907 11,419 9,907

Other 18,277 15,175 18,277 15,175

51,215 55,341 45,948 51,743

Individual life 173,142 181,918 105,360 84,763

Property and casualty 46,088 0 0 0

270,445 237,259 151,308 136,506

Net Premiums 3,830,588 2,898,772 3,068,691 2,730,204

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

30. Net Premium Income (Continued)

(a) Premiums by geography

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

3,651,890 2,744,528

198,698 154,244

3,850,588 2,898,772

Jamaica

The Group

Grand Cayman

31. Net Investment Income

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest Income:

Bank deposit 15,785 35,666 366 2,253

Short term loans 46,931 46,670 63,153 46,670

Policy loans 65,434 44,412 32,080 18,976

Mortgage loans 43,936 30,887 42,268 30,437

Investment securities 742,098 392,222 518,742 392,222

Corporate securities 73,611 16,035 34 16,034

987,795 565,892 656,643 506,592

Other investment income 23,551 37,780 1,845 33,163

Dividends - ordinary shares 35,634 9,926 4,606 4,352

Net gains on investment securities 24,395 58,683 8,479 29,918

Net foreign exchange income 297,036 60,236 218,257 60,236

1,368,411 732,517 889,830 634,261

Interest expense (210,223) (139,296) (209,052) (139,296)

1,158,188 593,221 680,778 494,965

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

32. Net Fee and Commission Income

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Fee and commission income -

Mortgage related fees 35,896 0 35,896 0

Administration fees 308,659 283,872 315,931 283,872

Other 45,883 32,718 45,883 32,718

390,438 316,590 397,710 316,590

Fee and commission expenses (527) (705) (527) (705)

389,911 315,885 397,183 315,885

The Group The Company

33. Net Gain from Co-Insurance Agreement

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

0 160,000

0 (13,519)

0 146,481

(a)    Gain from co-insurance

The Group and The Company

(b)    Co-insurance costs

(a) This represented the gain arising from the co-insurance agreement (Note 1 (d)).

(b) This represented costs incurred in restructuring of the company’s employee benefits business in
relation to the co-insurance agreement (Note 1(d)).

34. Net Gain on Disposal of Subsidiaries

This represents net gain deferred on the sale of two former subsidiaries, Atlantic Southern Insurance
Company Limited (ASICO) and Global Bahamas Holdings Limited in 2001.

35. Co-Insurance Distribution

This represents the net distribution arising from the co-insurance agreement with First Life Insurance
Company Limited for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

36. Salaries, Pension Contributions and Other Staff Benefits

(a) Employees

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Wages and salaries 553,821 366,545 532,007 360,088

Payroll taxes 56,532 38,882 54,292 37,072

Pension costs 49,492 71,825 44,023 67,729

Other post retirement benefits 26 23,300 17,256 22,783 16,670

Other 14,348 20,268 8,824 18,170

697,493 514,776 661,929 499,729

Termination costs 0 47,691 0 47,691

697,493 562,467 661,929 547,420

The Group The Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

No. No. No. No.

Average number of employees:

Full-time administrative 479 366 440 321

Part-time administrative 71 128 40 127

550 494 480 448

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

36. Salaries, Pension Contributions and Other Staff Benefits (Continued)

(b) Contractors – sales agents

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commissions and bonuses 726,699 485,383 700,840 459,888

2003 2002 2003 2002

No. No. No. No.

Average number of insurance sales agents 283 357 275 349

The Group The Company

The Group The Company

37. Restructuring Costs

This represents restructuring costs incurred in relation to the acquisition of Island Life.

38. Results of subsidiaries

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

280,114 31,826

36,173 0

393 (297)

2,790 0

319,470 31,529

Global Life Assurance Company Limited

Island Life Insurance Company Limited

LOJ Property Management Limited

Sagicor Re Insurance Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

39. Profit before Taxation

In arriving at the profit before taxation, the following items have been charged in the statement of operations:

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Auditors' remuneration -

Current year 15,418 10,228 9,577 7,000

Prior year 0 1,044 0 492

Actuarial fees 8,604 3,003 8,604 3,003

Depreciation 77,161 37,538 72,495 33,893

Directors' emoluments -

Fees 930 530 580 530

For management 22,143 12,359 22,143 12,359

Goodwill amortised 41,720 0 41,720 0

Salaries, pension contributions and other

staff benefits 37

- Employees 697,493 562,467 661,929 547,420

- Contractors 726,699 485,383 700,840 459,888

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

(i) Premium tax charges for the Group and the Company includes tax on deposits relating to the
segregated funds totaling $740,990,000 (2002 - $719,995,000) and $734,498,000 (2002 -
$719,995,000) respectively. The income from these funds is not included in the financial statements
of the Company.  The Company recovers these charges through premium income charged to the
funds for the provision of life insurance coverage.

(ii) Income tax at 33 1/3% is payable on income earned by LOJ Property Management Limited from the
management of real estate properties.

(iii) Subject to the agreement of the Taxpayer Audit and Assessment Department, losses of one of the
company’s subsidiaries, LOJ Property Management Limited, available at 31 December 2003 for set
off against future taxable profits amount to approximately $nil (2002 - $3,137,000).

40. Taxation

(a) Taxation charge
The taxation charge for the year in the statement of operations is comprised of:

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Premium tax @ 1.5%:

Current year charge 50,445 40,743 41,392 40,743

Investment income tax @ 7.5%:

Current year charge 30,586 33,478 15,261 33,478

Prior year over provision 0 (25,066) 0 (25,066)

30,586 8,412 15,261 8,412

Income tax @ 331/3% 443 0 0 0

81,474 49,155 56,653 49,155

Deferred income tax 13 6,311 (5,985) (2,884) (4,308)

87,785 43,170 53,769 44,847

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

40. Taxation (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax charges to effective tax charge:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Premium tax

Gross premium income 4,101,033 3,136,031 3,219,999 2,866,710

Tax @ 1.5% 61,515 47,040 48,300 43,001

Income not subject to tax (29,760) (19,981) (23,619) (15,942)

Amounts on deposit 4,883 0 3,595 0

Premium income relating segregated funds 11,115 10,800 11,017 10,800

Reinsurance premium not deductible 2,692 1,899 2,099 1,899

Net effect of other charges and allowances 0 985 0 985

50,445 40,743 41,392 40,743

Income tax @ 331/3% 443 0 0 0

Investment income tax

Gross investment income 987,795 565,892 656,643 506,592

Tax @ 7.5% 74,085 42,442 49,248 37,994

Deductible expenses (34,459) (3,289) (32,386) (3,289)

Income not subject to tax (22,804) (24,545) (20,164) (20,097)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 11,023 14,692 9,641 14,666

Prior year over provision 0 (25,066) 0 (25,066)

Unutilised tax losses 0 (1,046) 0 0

Net effect of other charges and allowances 9,052 (761) 6,038 (104)

36,897 2,427 12,377 4,104

Income tax expenses 87,785 43,170 53,769 44,847

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

The diluted earnings per share is calculated adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares:-

(a) The Group established an Employee Share Ownership Plan for which 2% of the company’s authorised
share capital has been be allocated.

(b) Effective 1 May 2003, the Group instituted a share based plan for executives. Shares amounting to
150,000,000 or 5% of the authorised share capital of $0.10 each, have been set aside for this plan.

41. Earnings Per Stock Unit

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2003 2002

1,208,683 858,391

2,320,145 1,829,752

$0.52 $0.47

Net profit attributable to shareholders ($'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ('000)

Basic earnings per share ($ per share)

2003 2002

1,208,683 858,391

2,273,847 1,656,249

$0.53 $0.52

Net profit attributable to shareholders ($'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ('000)

Basic earnings per share ($ per share)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

42. Reinsurance Ceded

The Group entered into reinsurance agreements with the following companies:

Swiss Re and Munich Re Individual life policies

Swiss Re Group life and personal accident

London Life Reinsurance Company Group health

The retention limits or maximum exposure on insurance policies are as follows for the Company and the
Group:

Jamaican dollars United States Dollars

$5,000,000 $100,000

$5,000,000 $0

$1,000,000 $100,000

$8,000,000 $100,000

2003 & 2002

Personal accident

Individual life policies

Group life

Group health
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

43. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Market price is used to determine fair value
where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. However,
market prices are not available for a significant number of the financial assets and liabilities held and
issued by the Group. Therefore, for financial instruments where no market price is available, the fair values
presented have been estimated using present value or other estimation and valuation techniques based on
market conditions existing at balance sheet dates.

The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumptions
used concerning both the amounts and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. The following
methods and assumptions have been used:

(i) financial investments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value by reference to quoted
market prices when available. If quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated
on the basis of pricing models or other recognised valuation techniques; such as obtaining indicative
bids from a range of investment traders and using the average of those bids;

(ii) the fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within one year is assumed to approximate
their carrying amount. This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short-term elements of all
other financial assets and financial liabilities;

(iii) the fair value of demand deposits and savings accounts with no specific maturity is assumed to be the 
amount payable on demand at the balance sheet date; and

(iv) the fair value of fixed rate loans is estimated by comparing market interest rates when the loans were
granted with current market rates offered on similar loans. For match-funded loans the fair value is 
assumed to be equal to their carrying value, as gains and losses offset each other. Changes in the
credit quality of loans within the portfolio are not taken into account in determining gross fair values
as the impact of credit risk is recognised separately by deducting the amount of the provisions for
credit losses from both book and fair values.

The following tables present the fair value of financial instruments based on the above-mentioned
valuation methods and assumptions. The following financial assets and financial liabilities are not carried
at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

43. Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued)

Differences between the fair values and the carrying values are accounted for in determining the amount of
policyholders’ liabilities that must be set aside each year.

Carrying

Value Fair Value

Carrying

Value Fair Value

2003 2003 2002 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets

Investment securities - originated loans 4,484,827 4,025,424 2,724,097 2,518,821

Financial Assets

Investment securities - originated loans 4,184,580 3,725,171 2,349,344 2,144,068

The Group

The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

44. Financial Risk Management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt and
equity market prices, interest rates,and foreign currency exchange rates. The Group’s overall risk
management approach focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

(a)   Interest rate risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The
management sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken,
which is monitored daily.

The Group and the Company are exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing levels of market interest rates on their financial position and cash flows. The following
tables summarise carrying amounts of balance sheet assets, liabilities and equity in order to arrive at
the Group’s and the Company’s interest rate gap based on earlier of contractual repricing or maturity
dates.

Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Immediately

rate

sensitive

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years

Over 5 

Years

Non-

interest

bearing Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Available-for-sale securities 0 38,525 8,275 261,210 2,799,342 765,124 3,872,476

Originated loans securities 0 235,818 124,124 775,732 2,833,918 515,235 4,484,827

Securities purchased under

resale agreements 0 485,719 30,169 0 0 0 515,888

Investment properties 0 0 0 0 0 360,234 360,234

Short term deposits 35,283 0 0 0 0 0 35,283

Investment in associates 0 0 0 0 0 4,099 4,099

Cash and bank 96,536 0 0 0 0 0 96,536

Property, plant & equipment 0 0 0 0 0 457,792 457,792

Goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 788,890 788,890

Deferred income tax 0 0 0 0 0 28,701 28,701

Other assets 0 0 0 0 0 1,338,497 1,338,497

Segregated funds' assets 0 501,452 180,782 1,982,150 224,915 1,490,831 4,380,130

Total Assets 131,819 1,261,514 343,350 3,019,092 5,858,175 5,749,403 16,363,353

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds 6,500 1,500 8,000 2,756,374 3,043,620 338,296 6,154,290

Retirement benefit obligations 0 0 0 0 0 305,140 305,140

Other liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 1,683,645 1,683,645

Segregated funds' liabilities 0 0 0 4,380,130 0 0 4,380,130

6,500 1,500 8,000 7,136,504 3,043,620 2,327,081 12,523,205

On balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap 125,319 1,260,014 335,350 (4,117,412) 2,814,555 3,422,322 3,840,148

Cumulative interest/

sensitivity gap 125,319 1,385,333 1,720,683 (2,396,729) 417,826 3,840,148

Total assets 315,895 613,809 408,860 2,912,542 3,793,305 2,822,346 10,866,757

Total liabilities 193,546 342,738 41,567 3,879,631 2,549,292 2,500,394 9,507,168

On balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap 122,349 271,071 367,293 (967,089) 1,244,013 321,952 1,359,589

Cumulative interest/ 

sensitivity gap 122,349 393,420 660,713 (306,376) 937,637 1,359,589

The Group

2003

2,002

44. Financial Risk Management

(a)  Interest rate risk (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Immediately

rate

sensitive

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years

Over 5 

Years

Non-

interest

bearing Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Available-for-sale securities 0 30,007 0 261,210 1,752,520 288,844 2,332,581

Originated loans securities 82,092 100,011 109,079 782,663 2,823,584 287,151 4,184,580

Securities purchased under

resale agreements 0 485,719 30,169 0 0 0 515,888

Investment properties 0 0 0 0 0 188,956 188,956

Short term deposits 1,523 0 0 0 0 0 1,523

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 0 1,184,377 1,184,377

Investment in associates 0 0 0 0 0 4,099 4,099

Cash and bank 44,339 0 0 0 0 0 44,339

Property, plant & equipment 0 0 0 0 0 451,534 451,534

Goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 788,890 788,890

Deferred income tax 0 0 0 0 0 26,275 26,275

Other assets 0 0 0 0 0 1,189,937 1,189,937

Segregated funds' assets 0 370,657 180,782 1,982,150 224,915 1,490,831 4,249,335

Total Assets 127,954 986,394 320,030 3,026,023 4,801,019 5,900,894 15,162,314

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds 6,500 1,500 8,000 2,497,159 2,377,596 338,196 5,228,951

Retirement benefit obligations 0 0 0 0 0 300,489 300,489

Other liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 1,543,391 1,543,391

Segregated funds' liabilities 0 0 0 4,249,335 0 0 4,249,335

6,500 1,500 8,000 6,746,494 2,377,596 2,182,076 11,322,166

On balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap 121,454 984,894 312,030 (3,720,471) 2,423,423 3,718,818 3,840,148

Cumulative interest/

sensitivity gap 121,454 1,106,348 1,418,378 (2,302,093) 121,330 3,840,148

Total assets 275,969 613,809 408,860 2,912,542 2,411,036 3,062,503 9,684,719

Total liabilities 193,546 342,738 141,567 3,786,103 1,734,022 2,098,375 8,296,351

On balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap 82,423 271,071 267,293 (873,561) 677,014 964,128 1,388,368

Cumulative interest/

sensitivity gap 82,423 353,494 620,787 (252,774) 424,240 1,388,368

The Company

2003

2,002

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)  Interest rate risk (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Immediately

rate

sensitive

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years

Weighted

Average

% % % % % %

Cash resources 3.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.50

Investments (1) 11.20 9.25 4.50 16.54 15.95 13.75

Mortgages (2) 18.30 18.30 18.30 18.30 18.30 18.30

Policy loans 17.53 17.53 17.53 17.53 17.53 17.53

Other liabilities 0.00 0.00 19.40 19.40 0.00 19.40

Amounts on Deposit 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12.75 12.75

Bank overdraft 65.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 65.00

Immediately

rate

sensitive

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years

Weighted

Average

% % % % % %

Cash resources 3.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.00

Investments (1) 10.71 8.17 3.23 15.91 12.78 12.54

Mortgages (2) 16.25 16.25 16.25 16.25 16.25 16.25

Policy loans 17.50 17.50 17.50 17.50 17.50 17.50

Other liabilities 0.00 0.00 18.69 18.69 0.00 18.69

Amounts on Deposit 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11.50 11.50

Bank overdraft 20.75 20.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 20.75

The Group and The Company

2003

2,002

(1) Yields are based on book values and contractual interest adjusted for amortisation of premiums and discounts

(2) Yields are based on book values, net of allowances for credit losses and contractual interest rates.

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table summaries the average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity
dates:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

(c) Liquidity risk
This is the risk that the Group will have difficulty raising funds to meet commitments. Certain of the
Group’s policies have features that allow them to be terminated at short notice creating a potential
liquidity exposure.  In the normal course of business, as far as is possible, the Group matches the maturity
of invested assets to the maturity of policy liabilities as far as possible.

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is
fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for insurance companies ever to be
completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types.  An
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss.

The following tables analyse assets and liabilities of the Group and the Company into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period, at balance sheet date, to contractual maturity date.

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other party to incur a financial loss.

The Group requires collateral for mortgages and other loans.  It does not generally require collateral in
respect of other financial assets, mainly premiums receivable. There is a credit policy in place to minimize
exposure to credit risk. At the balance sheet date the only significant concentration of credit risk related to
the Group’s investments in Government of Jamaica securities.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
balance sheet and the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table summarises the credit exposure of the Group to businesses and government by 
sectors in respect of investments:

2003 2002 2003 2002

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Government of Jamaica 5,745,106 3,826,037 5,002,785 3,438,291

Foreign government 234,616 229,869 0 0

Financial institutions 208,547 267,246 53,081 16,518

United States Dollar equities 549,596 324,554 73,314 0

Corporate equities 169,233 90,815 169,233 90,815

Other 1,450,205 637,852 1,218,748 448,480

8,357,303 5,376,373 6,517,161 3,994,104

The Group The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Within 1 

Month

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years

Over 5 

Years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Available-for-sale securities 0 38,525 8,275 261,210 3,564,466 3,872,476

Originated loans securities 135,763 100,055 124,124 775,732 3,349,153 4,484,827

Securities purchased under

resale agreements 0 485,719 30,169 0 0 515,888

Investment properties 0 0 0 0 360,234 360,234

Short term deposits 35,283 0 0 0 0 35,283

Investment in associates 0 0 0 0 4,099 4,099

Cash and bank 96,536 0 0 0 0 96,536

Property, plant & equipment 0 0 0 0 457,792 457,792

Goodwill 0 0 0 0 788,890 788,890

Deferred income tax 0 0 0 0 28,701 28,701

Other assets 493,141 153,546 605,434 86,376 0 1,338,497

Segregated funds' assets 243,281 501,452 180,782 1,982,150 1,472,465 4,380,130

Total Assets 1,004,004 1,279,297 948,784 3,105,468 10,025,800 16,363,353

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds 1,293,495 1,500 8,000 28,000 4,823,295 6,154,290

Retirement benefit obligations 0 0 0 0 305,140 305,140

Other liabilities 442,043 261,920 979,682 0 0 1,683,645

Segregated funds' liabilities 4,380,130 0 0 0 0 4,380,130

Total liabilities 6,115,668 263,420 987,682 28,000 5,128,435 12,523,205

Net Liquidity Gap (5,111,664) 1,015,877 (38,898) 3,077,468 4,897,365 3,840,148

Cumulative Liquidity Gap (5,111,664) (4,095,787) (4,134,685) (1,057,217) 3,840,148

Total assets 2,116,418 228,976 384,078 2,655,792 5,481,493 10,866,757

Total liabilities 5,306,903 342,738 141,567 45,000 3,670,960 9,507,168

Net Liquidity Gap (3,190,485) (113,762) 242,511 2,610,792 1,810,533 1,359,589

Cumulative Liquidity Gap (3,190,485) (3,304,247) (3,061,736) (450,944) 1,359,589

The Group

2003

2,002
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Within 1 

Month

Within 3 

Months

3 to 12 

Months 1 to 5 Years

Over 5 

Years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Available-for-sale securities 0 30,007 0 261,210 2,041,364 2,332,581

Originated loans securities 82,092 100,011 109,079 782,663 3,110,735 4,184,580

Securities purchased under

resale agreements 0 485,719 30,169 0 0 515,888

Investment properties 0 0 0 0 188,956 188,956

Short term deposits 1,523 0 0 0 0 1,523

Investment in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,184,377 1,184,377

Investments in associates 0 0 0 0 4,099 4,099

Cash and bank 44,339 0 0 0 0 44,339

Property, plant & equipment 0 0 0 0 451,534 451,534

Goodwill 0 0 0 0 788,890 788,890

Deferred income tax 0 0 0 0 26,275 26,275

Other assets 444,391 151,255 507,915 86,376 0 1,189,937

Segregated funds' assets 243,281 370,657 180,782 1,982,150 1,472,465 4,249,335

Total Assets 815,626 1,137,649 827,945 3,112,399 9,268,695 15,162,314

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds 1,126,899 1,500 8,000 28,000 4,064,552 5,228,951

Retirement benefit obligations 0 0 0 0 300,489 300,489

Taxation payable 68,427 0 0 0 68,427

Other liabilities 342,788 254,008 878,168 0 0 1,474,964

Segregated funds' liabilities 4,249,335 0 0 0 0 4,249,335

Total liabilities 5,787,449 255,508 886,168 28,000 4,365,041 11,322,166

Net Liquidity Gap (4,971,823) 882,141 (58,223) 3,084,399 4,903,654 3,840,148

Cumulative Liquidity Gap (4,971,823) (4,089,682) (4,147,905) (1,063,506) 3,840,148

Total assets 1,891,464 228,976 376,562 2,605,792 4,553,146 9,655,940

Total liabilities 4,982,463 342,738 141,567 45,000 2,784,583 8,296,351

Net Liquidity Gap (3,090,999) (113,762) 234,995 2,560,792 1,768,563 1,359,589

Cumulative Liquidity Gap (3,090,999) (3,204,761) (2,969,766) (408,974) 1,359,589

The Company

2003

2,002
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its
issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The Company has significant exposure to 
market risk on its portfolio of investments which could fluctuate based on changes in market interest
rates.

(e) Reinsurance risk
The Group limits the loss on any one policy by reinsuring certain levels of risk with other insurers.
Reinsurance ceded does not discharge the Group’s liabilities as primary insurer. The Group selects
reinsurers with high credit ratings.

(f) Cash flow risk
Cash flow is the risk that future cash flows associated with a monetary financial instruments will
fluctuate in amount.

The Group manages this risk ensuring, as far as possible, that financial assets and liabilities are
matched to  mitigate any significant adverse cash flows.

(g) Currency risk
The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows.

The following tables summarise the exposure of the Group and the Company to foreign currency
exchange rate risk. Included in the tables are the Group’s and the Company’s assets and liabilities at
carrying amounts categorised by currency.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(g) Currency risk (continued)

Jamaican $ US$ Other Total

J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000

Assets

Investments

Available-for-sale 230,503 3,597,787 44,186 3,872,476

Originated loans 3,558,779 926,048 0 4,484,827

Securities purchased under resale agreements 501,390 14,498 0 515,888

Investment properties 188,956 171,278 0 360,234

Short term deposits 35,283 0 0 35,283

Investments in associated companies 4,099 0 0 4,099

Cash and bank 44,540 51,996 0 96,536

Property, plant & equipment 456,765 1,027 0 457,792

Goodwill 788,890 0 0 788,890

Deferred income tax 28,701 0 0 28,701

Other assets 948,135 255,190 0 1,203,325

Due from parent company 70,597 0 0 70,597

Due from ultimate parent company 64,575 0 0 64,575

Segregated funds' assets 3,864,518 515,612 0 4,380,130

Total Assets 10,785,731 5,533,436 44,186 16,363,353

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities 2,759,792 666,124 0 3,425,916

Amounts on deposit 869,836 417,159 0 1,286,995

Pension funds 1,348,762 92,617 0 1,441,379

Retirement benefit obligations 305,140 0 0 305,140

Taxation payable 68,427 0 0 68,427

Other liabilities 1,516,203 71,592 0 1,587,795

Due to ultimate parent company 27,423 0 0 27,423

Segregated funds' liabilities 4,249,331 130,799 0 4,380,130

Total liabilities 11,144,914 1,378,291 0 12,523,205

Net position (359,183) 4,155,145 44,186 3,840,148

Total assets 7,174,477 3,677,139 15,141 10,866,757

Total liabilities 8,252,472 1,254,696 0 9,507,168

Net position (1,077,995) 2,422,443 15,141 1,359,589

2002

The Group

2003
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Jamaican $ US$ Other Total

J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000

Assets

Investments

Available-for-sale 230,503 2,057,892 44,186 2,332,581

Originated loans 3,558,779 625,801 0 4,184,580

Securities purchased under resale agreements 501,390 14,498 0 515,888

Investment properties 188,956 0 0 188,956

Short term deposits 1,523 0 0 1,523

Investments in subsidiaries (14,376) 1,198,753 0 1,184,377

Investments in associated companies 4,099 0 0 4,099

Cash and bank 42,946 1,393 0 44,339

Property, plant & equipment 451,534 0 0 451,534

Goodwill 788,890 0 0 788,890

Deferred income tax 26,275 0 0 26,275

Other assets 989,736 97,712 0 1,087,448

Due from parent company 37,914 0 0 37,914

Due from ultimate parent company 64,575 0 0 64,575

Segregated funds' assets 3,865,022 384,313 0 4,249,335

Total Assets 10,737,766 4,380,362 44,186 15,162,314

Liabilities

Policyholders' funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities 2,759,792 0 0 2,759,792

Amounts on deposit 869,836 250,563 0 1,120,399

Pension funds 1,348,760 0 0 1,348,760

Retirement benefit obligations 300,489 0 0 300,489

Taxation payable 68,427 0 0 68,427

Other liabilities 1,435,062 0 0 1,435,062

Due to ultimate parent company 39,902 0 0 39,902

Segregated funds' liabilities 4,249,335 0 0 4,249,335

Total liabilities 11,071,603 250,563 0 11,322,166

Net position (333,837) 4,129,799 44,186 3,840,148

Total assets 5,509,844 4,130,955 15,141 9,655,940

Total liabilities 6,204,424 2,091,927 0 8,296,351

Net position (694,580) 2,039,028 15,141 1,359,589

2002

The Company

2003

44. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(g) Currency risk (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

45. Commitments

Approval for commitments to be incurred over the next year for which no provision has been made in these
financial statements is as follows:

46. Contingent Liabilities

The Group is involved in legal proceedings incidental to the normal conduct of its business. Management
believes that none of these legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material effect on
the Group.

2003 2002

$'000 $'000

421,067 13,071

1,240 850

40,501 0

462,808 13,921

Undisbursed mortgage commitments

Undisbursed loan commitments

Capital expenditure
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

47. Acquisition

On 31 March 2003, the Company acquired Island Life Insurance Company Limited (Note 1 (e)).

The acquisition has been recorded using the purchase method and goodwill is amortised using the
straight line method over its estimated economic life.

Details of net assets of Island Life Insurance Company Limited acquired were as follows:

The Group 

and The

Company

2003

Note $'000

18 52,403

1,493,486

1,545,889

(715,479)

12 830,410

1,523

1,845,667

160,995

45,794

219,497

(1,557,997)

715,479

830,410

1,545,889

Other liabilities

Fair value of net assets acquired

Goodwill

Total purchase consideration

Investment securities

Investment properties

Fixed assets

Other assets

Purchase consideration:

Shares issued in Life of Jamaica Limited

Share premium on shares issued

Fair value of net assets acquired

Goodwill

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Post-acquisition profits of $36,173,000 of Island Life Insurance Company Limited have been included in the
Group’s statement of operations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

48. Amalgamation

At the year-end, LOJ and Island Life amalgamated their operations.

Details of the net assets of Island Life as at 31 December 2003 are as follows:

The Group 

and The

Company

2003

$'000

35,648

843,201

1,244,163

239,698

189,037

227,337

2,779,084

(1,984,860)

794,224

Less: other liabilities

Net assets

- Available-for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities

- Originated loans

Property, plant and equipment

Securities purchased under resale agreements

Other assets
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards

The Group adopted International Financial Reporting Standards effective 1 January 2002.  Prior to that
date, the financial statements of the Group and the Company were prepared in accordance with Jamaican
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (JGAAP). The financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2001 and 31 December 2002 (the immediately preceding comparative period) have been
restated to reflect the financial position and results under IFRS. The financial effects of conversion from
Jamaican GAAP to IFRS are set out as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(i) Effect on stockholders’ equity as at 31 December 2001:

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Available-for-sale securities (a) 1,013,930 (170,530) 843,400

Originated loan securities 3,098,733 0 3,098,733

Investment in Associated Companies 4,093 0 4,093

Property, Plant & Equipment (c) 143,181 54,598 197,779

Investment Properties (d) 84,681 145,087 229,768

Cash and Deposits 61,848 0 61,848

Deferred Tax Assets (e) 0 26,264 26,264

Other Assets 1,104,371 0 1,104,371

Segregated Funds' Assets (f) 0 3,988,045 3,988,045

5,510,837 4,043,464 9,554,301

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders' Equity

Share capital 1,222,308 0 1,222,308

Share premium 128,985 0 128,985

Capital reserve 2,675 0 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves (a), (j) 0 7,778 7,778

Currency translation reserve 123,279 0 123,279

Accumulated deficit (b), (c), (d), (e), (h), (j) (897,796) (73,839) (971,635)

579,451 (66,061) 513,390

Policyholders' Funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities (g) 3,005,858 (661,625) 2,344,233

Amounts on deposit (g) 212,404 661,625 874,029

Pension funds 369,832 0 369,832

3,588,094 0 3,588,094

Retirement Benefit Obligations (h) 164,961 138,488 303,449

Other Liabilities (i) 1,108,429 52,894 1,161,323

Investment Reserves (j) 69,902 (69,902) 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities (f) 0 3,988,045 3,988,045

5,510,837 4,043,464 9,554,301

The Group
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(ii) Effect on stockholders’ equity as at 31 December 2001:

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Available-for-sale securities (a) 731,493 17,495 748,988

Originated loan securities 2,468,477 0 2,468,477

Investment in Subsidiaries (b) 671,033 50,141 721,174

Investment in Associated Companies 4,093 0 4,093

Property, Plant & Equipment (c) 133,207 0 133,207

Investment Properties (d) 84,681 8,346 93,027

Cash and Deposits 39,975 0 39,975

Deferred Tax Assets (e) 0 23,751 23,751

Other Assets 470,624 0 470,624

Segregated Funds' Assets (f) 0 3,408,064 3,408,064

4,603,583 3,507,797 8,111,380

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders' Equity

Share capital 1,222,308 0 1,222,308

Share premium 128,985 0 128,985

Capital reserve 2,675 0 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves (a), (j) 0 7,778 7,778

Currency translation reserve 123,279 0 123,279

Accumulated deficit (b), (c), (d), (e), (h), (j) (897,796) (73,839) (971,635)

579,451 (66,061) 513,390

Policyholders' Funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities (g) 2,502,490 (661,625) 1,840,865

Amounts on deposit (g) 75,729 661,625 737,354

Pension funds 369,832 0 369,832

2,948,051 0 2,948,051

Retirement Benefit Obligations (h) 164,961 130,949 295,910

Other Liabilities (i) 893,071 52,894 945,965

Investment Reserves (j) 18,049 (18,049) 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities (f) 0 3,408,064 3,408,064

4,603,583 3,507,797 8,111,380

The Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Available-for-sale securities (a) 2,767,693 (115,417) 2,652,276

Originated loan securities 2,724,097 0 2,724,097

Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements 81,359 0 81,359

Investment in Associated Companies 4,105 0 4,105

Property, Plant & Equipment 129,173 0 129,173

Investment Properties (d) 103,265 154,193 257,458

Cash and Deposits 315,895 0 315,895

Deferred Tax Assets (e) 0 32,247 32,247

Other Assets 790,516 0 790,516

Segregated Funds' Assets (f) 0 3,879,631 3,879,631

6,916,103 3,950,654 10,866,757

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders' Equity

Share capital 1,222,308 0 1,222,308

Share premium 128,985 0 128,985

Capital reserve 2,675 0 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves (a), (j) 19,957 (87,208) (67,251)

Currency translation reserve (b) 181,745 4,371 186,116

Special investment reserve 16,724 0 16,724

Accumulated deficit (b), (c), (d), (e), (h), (j) (84,770) (45,198) (129,968)

1,487,624 (128,035) 1,359,589

Policyholders' Funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities (g) 3,254,077 (677,851) 2,576,226

Amounts on deposit (g) 223,790 677,851 901,641

Pension funds 546,036 0 546,036

4,023,903 0 4,023,903

Retirement Benefit Obligations (h) 132,148 192,760 324,908

Other Liabilities (i) 1,226,088 52,638 1,278,726

Investment Reserves (j) 46,340 (46,340) 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities (f) 0 3,879,631 3,879,631

6,916,103 3,950,654 10,866,757

The Group

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(iii) Effect on stockholders’ equity as at 31 December 2002:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Available-for-sale securities (a) 1,529,805 114,955 1,644,760

Originated loan securities 2,349,344 0 2,349,344

Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements 81,359 0

Investment in Subsidiaries (b) 693,705 (70,216) 623,489

Investment in Associated Companies 4,105 0 4,105

Property, Plant & Equipment (c) 121,433 0 121,433

Investment Properties (d) 103,265 8,346 111,611

Cash and Deposits 247,190 0 247,190

Deferred Tax Assets (e) 0 28,058 28,058

Other Assets 658,488 0 658,488

Segregated Funds' Assets (f) 0 3,786,103 3,786,103

5,788,694 3,867,246 9,655,940

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders' Equity

Share capital 1,222,308 0 1,222,308

Share premium 128,985 0 128,985

Capital reserve 2,675 0 2,675

Investment and fair value reserves (a), (j) 19,957 (87,208) (67,251)

Currency translation reserve 181,745 4,371 186,116

Special investment reserve 16,724 0 16,724

Accumulated deficit (b), (c), (d), (e), (h), (j) (84,770) (45,198) (129,968)

1,487,624 (128,035) 1,359,589

Policyholders' Funds

Provision for policyholders' liabilities (g) 2,580,455 (677,851) 1,902,604

Amounts on deposit (g) 82,142 677,851 759,993

Pension funds 481,241 0 481,241

3,143,838 0 3,143,838

Retirement Benefit Obligations (h) 132,148 186,448 318,596

Other Liabilities (i) 989,225 58,589 1,047,814

Investment Reserves (j) 35,859 (35,859) 0

Segregated Funds' Liabilities (f) 0 3,786,103 3,786,103

5,788,694 3,867,246 9,655,940

The Company

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(iv)   Effect on stockholders’ equity as at 31 December 2002 :
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Premium earned, net 2,898,772 0 2,898,772

Investment (b), (j), (k) 509,662 83,559 593,221

Net fee and commission income 315,885 0 315,885

Net gain on co-insurance 146,481 0 146,481

Other operating income (b), (j), (k) 50,603 33,927 84,530

3,921,403 117,486 4,038,889

Benefits and Expenses

Policyholders' benefits and reserves 1,446,655 0 1,446,655

Administrative expenses (c) 314,867 (1,769) 313,098

Commission and sales expenses 485,383 0 485,383

Co-insurance distribution 28,582 0 28,582

Changes in policyholders' liabilities 193,975 0 193,975

Salaries, pension contributions and other staff

benefits (h), (i) 494,890 67,577 562,467

Restructuring costs 107,168 0 107,168

3,071,520 65,808 3,137,328

Operating Profit 849,883 51,678 901,561

Transfer from investment reserve (j) 29,023 (29,023) 0

Operating Profit before Taxation 878,906 22,655 901,561

Taxation (e) (49,154) 5,984 (43,170)

NET PROFIT 829,752 28,639 858,391

The Group

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(v)  Reconciliation of net profit at 31 December 2002
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

Previous

JGAAP

Effect of

Transition

to IFRS IFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income

Premium earned, net 2,730,204 0 2,730,204

Investment (j), (k) 471,151 23,814 494,965

Net fee and commission income 315,885 0 315,885

Net gain on co-insurance 146,481 0 146,481

Other operating income 43,898 0 43,898

3,707,619 23,814 3,731,433

Benefits and Expenses

Policyholders' benefits and reserves 1,312,288 0 1,312,288

Administrative expenses 342,639 0 342,639

Commission and sales expenses 459,888 0 459,888

Changes in policyholders' liabilities 61,739 0 61,739

Co-insurance distribution 28,582 0 28,582

Salaries, pension contributions and other staff

benefits (h), (i) 478,611 68,809 547,420

Restructuring costs 107,168 0 107,168

2,790,915 68,809 2,859,724

Operating Profit 916,704 (44,995) 871,709

(Loss)/Profit of life subsidiary (b) (32,990) 64,816 31,826

Loss of non-life subsidiary (b) (3,199) 2,902 (297)

880,515 22,723 903,238

Transfer to investment reserve (j) (1,609) 1,609 0

Operating Profit before Taxation 878,906 24,332 903,238

Taxation (e) (49,154) 4,307 (44,847)

NET PROFIT 829,752 28,639 858,391

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

(vi) Reconciliation of net profit at 31 December 2002
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Brief descriptions of each item of difference:

(a) Financial assets classified as originated loans and available-for-sale under IFRS are carried at their
amortised cost and fair values respectively. Originated loans are carried at their amortised cost
using the effective yield method. The unrealised gains/losses as a result of the re-measurement of
the available-for-sale securities to fair value are recognised in the investment and fair value reserve.

(b) Adjustments to the Company’s share of equity of its subsidiaries due to IFRS adjustments in those
companies resulted in adjustments of $70,216,000 (2001 - $50,141,000) for the Company.

(c) Property occupied by a former subsidiary, ASICO, was transferred from investment property to
property, plant and equipment which amounted to $nil (2001 - $54,598,000) for the Group.
Depreciation amounted to $1,769,000 (2001 - $3,318,000).

(d) The Company has opted to use the fair value model in measuring its investment properties. As a
result, provisions for future selling costs of $8,346,000 (2001 - $8,346,000) were adjusted for the
Group and the Company. Real estate of $145,847,000 (2001 - $136,741,000) for the Group,
previously classified as investments under JGAAP was transferred to investment property.

(e) Provision for deferred taxation is made in full using the liability method. Deferred tax, which was
recognised as a result of the pension and post retirement benefits, accelerated tax depreciation and
other temporary differences, amounted to $32,247,000 (2001 - $26,264,000) for the Group and
$28,058,000 (2001 - $23,751,000) for the Company.

(f) Segregated assets and liabilities treated as off-balance sheet items were included in the Company’s
and the Group’s financial statements as they qualify as assets and liabilities under IFRS.

(g) The guaranteed investor plan offered by the Company is primarily a financial instrument as defined
by IAS 39, with minimal insurance cover. As a result, the amounts in relation to this plan of 
$677,851,000 (2001 - $661,625,000) have been reclassified from the policyholders’ liabilities to
amounts on deposit.

(h) Provision for pension benefits which was not required under previous GAAP, is now made in full.
The provision for pension obligations is determined by independent actuaries using the Projected
Unit Credit Method. Amounts had been previously recorded by the Group in relation to these
benefits. Accordingly, the differences adjusted in the balance sheet for the Group and the
Company’s pension scheme and post retirement benefit obligations based on the latest actuarial
valuations were $192,760,000 (2001 - $138,488,000) and $186,448,000 (2001 - $130,949,000)
respectively.

(i) Under IAS 19, companies are required to recognise outstanding vacation due to employees. As a 
result, accrued vacation outstanding for 2002 amounted to $5,695,000 for the Group and the
Company. Adjustments in relation to pension accruals in 2001 of $52,894,000 for the Company
were adjusted in accordance with IAS 19.

(j) Unrealised gains and losses on investment property, and transfers between the statement of
operations amounting to $46,340,000 (2001 - $69,902,000) for the Group and $35,859,000 (2001 -
$18,049,000) have been appropriately treated in accordance with IAS 40.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2003

Life of Jamaica Limited

49. Financial Effects of Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Brief descriptions of each item of difference (continued):

(k) The fair value of interest earned on concessionary mortgages granted to staff resulted in
adjustments of $7,614,000 (2001 - $7,170,000) for the Company.

50. Subsequent Events

(a) Subsequent to the year end, one of the company’s subsidiaries, Global Life Assurance Company
Limited acquired the Cayman Island’s individual life and group life portfolio of Capital Life Insurance
Company Limited, a subsidiary of Sagicor Life Inc.

(b) Subsequent to the year-end, the Company announced its intention to acquire the insurance business
of First Life Insurance Company (First Life) along with First Life’s shareholding in Pan Caribbean
Financial Services Limited. Both parties have also signed a Memorandum of Understanding
supporting their intention.
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Life of Jamaica Limited

FINANCIAL STATISTICS

120

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

SALES:

Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - Sums Assured $m 32,337 12,224 10,980 9,419 9,362

Group Life - Sums Assured $m 867 1,186 4,117 1,325 1,049

Total New Insurance Amounts $m 33,204 13,410 15,097 10,744 10,411

New Annualised Premiums

Individual Life $m 621 341 280 274 357

Group Life and Health $m 136 137 85 145 96

Annuities $m 202 185 250 148 305

Group Pensions $m 50 6 30 0 0

Total New Annualised Premiums $m 1,009 669 645 567 758

IN FORCE:

Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - Sums Assured $m 134,181 98,655 90,822 86,043 87,804

Group Life - Sums Assured $m 82,344 51,827 50,919 40,058 38,561

Total Insurance Amounts in Force $m 216,525 150,482 141,741 126,101 126,365

Number of Individual Life policies in force 267,850 224,544 233,581 252,341 273,585

Number of New Individual Life policies 24,187 15,323 14,043 13,694 16,818

FINANCIAL POSITION & STRENGTH:

Total assets (including Segregated Funds) $m 15,162 9,656 8,111 8,081 5,064

Pension funds under management $m 20,027 14,828 12,155 12,402 11,170

Total Assets Under Management $m 35,189 24,484 20,266 20,483 16,234

Invested assets $m 7,224 4,187 3,310 3,145 3,511

Policyholders' Funds $m 5,229 3,144 2,948 2,595 2,373

Shareholders' equity $m 3,840 1,360 513 194 (1,925)

OPERATING RESULTS:

Net Premium Income $m 3,069 2,730 2,667 2,331 2,039

Net Invested Income $m 681 495 479 367 569

Total revenue $m 4,313 3,731 3,510 4,058 3,276

Death claims $m 299 256 217 230 205

Health claims $m 958 825 720 594 362

Other policyholders' benefits $m 249 231 494 598 903

Net profit/(loss) $m 1,209 858 232 196 (2,835)

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Return on average assets % 14 16 5 5 (95)

Return on average shareholders' equity % 47 92 66 22 (541)

Minimum continuing capital and surplus requirement % 215.9 175.6 (7.6) N/A N/A

Share price $ 3.90 2.70 2.97 0.70 0.70

Earnings per share $ 0.53 0.52 0.17 0.37 (5.25)

Price earnings ratio 7.36 5.19 17.47 1.89 (0.13)

Statistical Summary - Life of Jamaica Limited

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

0

5

25

75

95

100

Pg 120 to 121 - Fin Stat

Wednesday, May 12, 2004 8:05:20 PM



Life of Jamaica Limited

121

FINANCIAL STATISTICS

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

SALES:

Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - Sums Assured $m 34,834 13,102 14,994 42,369 33,585

Group Life - Sums Assured $m 867 1,224 4,302 3,745 3,330

Total New Insurance Amounts $m 35,701 14,326 19,296 46,114 36,915

New Annualised Premiums

Individual Life $m 637 357 299 300 357

Group Life and Health $m 136 137 85 145 96

Annuities $m 213 188 250 148 305

Group Pensions $m 50 6 30 0 0

Total New Annualised Premiums $m 1,036 688 664 593 758

IN FORCE:

Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - Sums Assured $m 166,357 125,509 120,804 230,121 198,114

Group Life - Sums Assured $m 86,482 55,179 55,862 56,109 53,690

Total Insurance Amounts in Force $m 252,839 180,688 176,666 286,230 251,804

Number of Individual Life policies in force 270,969 229,154 237,833 286,804 306,194

Number of New Individual Life policies 24,507 15,787 14,480 14,477 17,455

FINANCIAL POSITION & STRENGTH:

Total assets (including Segregated Funds) $m 16,363 10,867 9,554 14,963 11,643

Pension funds under management $m 20,026 14,408 12,155 12,402 11,170

Total Assets Under Management $m 36,389 25,275 21,709 27,365 22,813

Invested assets $m 9,269 5,744 4,171 9,432 9,789

Policyholders' Funds $m 6,154 4,024 3,588 7,912 7,617

Shareholders' equity $m 3,840 1,360 513 198 (1,910)

OPERATING RESULTS:

Net Premium Income $m 3,831 2,899 4,306 3,690 3,407

Net Invested Income $m 1,158 593 902 786 549

Total revenue $m 5,603 4,039 5,673 4,904 4,151

Death claims $m 393 291 301 562 485

Health claims $m 959 827 721 595 363

Other policyholders' benefits $m 559 331 1,559 980 1,107

Net profit/(loss) $m 1,209 858 232 196 (2,835)

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Return on average assets % 13 14 4 4 (55)

Return on average shareholders' equity % 47 92 66 22 (541)

Minimum continuing capital and surplus requirement % 215.9 175.6 (7.6) N/A N/A

Share price $ 3.90 2.70 2.97 0.70 0.70

Earnings per share $ 0.53 0.52 0.17 0.37 (5.25)

Price earnings ratio 7.36 5.19 17.47 1.89 (0.13)

Statistical Summary - Life of Jamaica Limited & Subsidiaries
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Maxine MacLure
President and CEO

Ivan Carter
Senior Vice President

Finance

Hugh Mazely
Executive Vice President

Errol McKenzie
Executive Vice President

Employee Benefits
LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Life of Jamaica Limited
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Michael Fraser
Deputy CEO and

Chief Marketing Officer

Janice Grant-Taffe
Vice President
Legal Counsel

Sharon Lake
Vice President

Insurance Operations

Catherine Parke-Thwaites
Senior Vice President

Investments

Janet Sharp
Executive Vice President

Appointed Actuary

Donna M. Stephenson
Vice President

Corporate Secretary
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Corporate Secretary

Medical Director

Auditors

Bankers

Donna M. Stephenson
Vice President, Corporate Secretary

Dr. Edward Chung, DM,FACP,FCCP

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Bank of Nova Scotia (Jamaica) Limited
National Commercial Bank (Jamaica) Limited

Attorneys

Registered Office

Myers, Fletcher & Gordon
O. G. Harding & Company
Hart Muirhead Fatta
Livingston Alexander & Levy
DunnCox

28 - 48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I.

Telephone : (876) 929-8920-9
Fax No. : (876) 929-4730
Email: webmaster@life-of-ja.com
Cable Code: ‘LOJAM’

CORPORATE DATA

Life of Jamaica Limited Life of Jamaica Limited - Spanish Town
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Ten Largest Shareholders

Sagicor Life Inc 1,575,754,056

LOJ Holdings Limited 413,870,334

Finsac Limited 79,560,000

National Commercial Bank Property A/C 71,815,113

Ravers Limited 21,195,455

DONWIS Limited

Main Reg. 6,285,680

J.C.S.D. Reg. 11,214,910

Donovan Lewis 3,020,000

Capital and Credit Merchant Bank Ltd. 20,000,085

Trading a/c Scotiabank Ja. Trust & Merchant (a/c 542) 18,009,938

West Indies Trust Company Ltd. (a/c WT 109) 15,000,000

Pan Caribbean Merchant Bank (a/c J1996) 10,058,609

Grace Kennedy & Company - Pension Scheme 8,964,782

Name Number of Shares

Directors / Connected Persons

Mr. J. Arthur Bethell 25,000

Mr. Dodridge Miller 25,089

Ms. Maxine MacLure 425,000

Mr. Michael Fraser 446,500

The Hon. R. D. Williams NIL

Ravers Ltd. (Connected Company) 21,195,455

Mr. Philip Osborne 50,000

Mrs. Patricia Downes-Grant 25,000

Mr. Jeffrey Cobham 25,000

Mrs. Marjorie Chevannes-Campbell 25,000

Executive Management / Connected Persons

Ms. Maxine MacLure 425,000

Mr. Errol McKenzie Mrs. Annette McKenzie 2,305,015

Mr. Michael Fraser 446,500

Mrs. Sharon Lake 400,266

Mrs. Janet Sharp 82,260

Mr. Ivan Carter 100,000

Mr. Hugh Mazely NIL

Mrs. Janice A. M. Grant Taffe Mr. Joseph Taffe 436,000

Mrs. Catherine Parke-Thwaites NIL

Ms. Donna Stephenson 70,000

1,989,624,390

20,520,590

SHAREHOLDINGS
As at December 31, 2003

LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003
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BRANCH OFFICES AND MANAGERS

Half Way Tree

Belmont Dukes

Corporate Circle

Knutsford

Liguanea

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Marston Thomas

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Roaan Brown

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Pete Forrest

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Randolph McLean

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Michael Lawe

LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003
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Mandeville

Montego Bay

New Kingston

Ocho Rios

Spanish Town

59 Main Street
Mandeville, Manchester
Tel: (876) 962-2166, 962-2182
Fax: (876) 962-3788
Branch Manager: Dale Greaves-Smith

42b Union Street
Montego Bay, St. James
Tel: (876) 952-4700-2
Fax: (876) 952-7578
Branch Manager: Patrick Sinclair

LOJ Business Centre
35 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 5
Tel: (876) 926-1470
Fax: (876) 938-4369
Branch Manager: Phillip Sanderson

2 Newlin Street,
Ocho Rios, St. Ann
Tel: (876) 974-2389, 974-5381

974-5959, 974-5989
Fax: (876) 974-1818
Branch Manager: Mavis Ferguson

16 Burke Road
Spanish Town, St. Catherine
Tel: (876) 984-3027/9, 984-5047
Fax: (876) 984-8474
Branch Manager: Trevor Barnes
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SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

LOJ Property Management Limited

LOJ Pooled Investment Funds Limited

Employee Benefits Administrator Limited

28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-9182-6
Fax: (876) 929-9187

28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-8920-9
Fax: (876) 929-4730

28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-8920-9
Fax: (876) 929-4730

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Lested Developments Limited

St. Andrew Developers Limited

28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-8920-9
Fax: (876) 929-4730

60 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-4510
General Manager: Dayton Wood

OVERSEAS SUBSIDIARIES

Global Life Assurance Company Limited

Sagicor Re Insurance Limited

North Church Street
PO Box 1087
George Town, Grand Cayman
Tel: (345) 949-8211
Fax: (345) 949-8262
Agency Manager: Michel Trumbach
Incorporated in Grand Cayman

c/o Aon Insurance Managers (Cayman)
Limited, Buckingham Square
720 West Bay Road
P. O. Box 69
GT, Grand Cayman

LIFE OF JAMAICA LIMITED

JAMAICA, 2003
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NOTICE OF MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the THIRTY THIRD 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company will be held 
at the LOJ Auditorium, 28-48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5 
on 24th  day of June 2004 at 10:00a.m. for the following 
purposes:

1. To receive the Report of the Directors and the Audited 
Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2003.

RESOLUTION:
“THAT the Report of the Directors and the Audited 
Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2003 now 
submitted to this meeting be and are hereby 
received.”

2. To elect Directors

In accordance with Article 98 of the Company's
Articles of Association, Mrs. Patricia Downes-Grant, 
Messrs. J. Arthur Bethell and Dodridge Miller will 
retire by rotation, and being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election.

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following 
resolutions:

(I)“That Mrs. Patricia Downes-Grant who retires by 
rotation be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the 
Company.”

(ii)“That Mr. J. Arthur Bethell who retires by rotation be 
and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

(iii)“That Mr. Dodridge Miller who retires by rotation be 
and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

3. To fix the remuneration of the Directors.

RESOLUTION
“THAT the amount of Four Hundred and Thirty 
Thousand Dollars ($430,000) included in the Audited 
Accounts of the Company for the year ended December 
31, 2003 as remuneration of the Directors for their 
services as Directors be and is hereby approved.”

4. To authorize the Directors to fix the remuneration of the 
Auditors.

RESOLUTION:
“THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorized to fix 
the remuneration of the Auditors at a figure to be agreed 
with them.”

As special business, to consider the following Resolutions:

5. “THAT Mr. Richard Byles having been appointed by the 

Directors to the Board since the last Annual General 
Meeting retire and being eligible offers himself for re-
election.”

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolution:

That retiring Director Mr. Richard Byles be re-elected.

6.The following ordinary resolution shall be put to the 
General Meeting and, if thought fit, passed as an 
ordinary resolution:

BE IT RESOLVED

“THAT the conversion of that part of the authorized 
share capital of the Company in the sum of 
$1,056,684,000 which comprised 1,056,684,000 zero 
coupon non-cumulative convertible preference shares of 
J$1.00 each (all of which zero coupon non-cumulative 
convertible preference shares) were issued and have 
since been converted into 317,005,200 ordinary stock 
units of J$0.10 each consequent upon the Company
achieving the solvency ratio required under the 
applicable regulations) into 10,566,840,000 ordinary 
shares of J$0.10 each, the said ordinary shares of J$0.10 
each having the same rights and privileges as and 
ranking pari passu for all purposes and in all respects 
with the existing stock units in the Company, be and is 
hereby approved.”

7. Renaming of the Company.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution as a Special Resolution.

BE IT RESOLVED

“THAT the new name for the Company will be Sagicor 
Life of Jamaica Limited effective on the date that the 
Registrar of Companies issues the new Certificate of 
Change of Name.”

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of 
him.  A proxy need not be a member.  Proxy forms must be 
lodged at the Company's Registered Office, 28-48 
Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5, not less than 48 hours 
before the time of the meeting.

A Form of Proxy is enclosed for your convenience.

By Order of the Board.

Donna M. Stephenson
Secretary
May 1, 2004

NOTICE OF MEETING

Life of Jamaica Limited
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I ……………………………………...........................................…..of………………………………………......…..being a member of

Life of Jamaica Limited hereby appoint ……………………………................………………………….......................................

of.......................………………………………………………..or failing him ……………………………...........................…………… 

of……………………………………………………………..........as my proxy to vote for me on behalf at the Annual General 

Meeting of the company to be held on Wednesday, the 8th day of June 2004 and at any adjournment thereof.

The Proxy will vote on the undermentioned resolutions as indicated:

Resolution For Against

1. To receive the Directors' report and accounts for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

2. To elect Directors
Patricia Downes-Grant
J. Arthur Bethell
Dodridge Miller

3. To fix remuneration of Directors

4. To authorize the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

5. As special businesses to consider and (if thought fit) pass the
following Resolutions:

i) That retiring Director Mr. Richard Byles be re-elected.

6. To authorize the conversion of that part of the Authorized Share
Capital of 1,056,684,000 zero coupon non-cumulative convertible 
Preference shares in 10,566,840,000 ordinary shares.

7. To approve the Renaming of the Company.

Note: If this form is returned without any indication as to how the person appointed proxy shall vote, he will 
exercise his discretion as to how he votes or whether he abstains from voting.

As witness my hand this ………………………day of …………………………………….,2004

Signature………………………………………….

  ........…………………………………..

Note: 1) If the appointer is a Corporation, this form must be under its common seal or under the hand 
of an officer or attorney duly authorized.

2) To be valid, this proxy must be lodged with the Secretary of the Company, 28-48 Barbados 
Avenue, Kingston 5, not less than 48 hrs. before the time appointed for holding the meeting.  A
proxy need not be a member of the Company.
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Opposite page: Sandals Dunn’s River Hotel refurbished and re-opened in February, 1991
(Historical photo taken from “A History 1970 - 1991 : Life of Jamaica Limited”)
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L I M I T E DL I M I T E D

A Member of the Sagicor Group

28-48 Barbados Avenue, New Kingston
P.O. Box 439, Kingston 5, Jamaica
Website: http://www.life-of-ja.com

Wise Financial Thinking for Life
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